

Westhill High School

Student/Parent Handbook 2022-2023

4501 Onondaga Boulevard Syracuse, NY 13219 www.westhillschools.org 2022/2023

DAILY SCHEDULE 2022-2023 SCHOOL YEAR

1 7:40- 8:21		
Homeroom 8:21 – 8:25	IN 1 ST PERIOD CLASS	
2 8:29 – 9:10		
3 9:14 – 9:55		
4 9:59 – 10:40		
5 10:40 – 11:10		
6 11:14 – 11:25		
7 11:25 – 11:55		
8 11:59 – 12:10		
9 12:10 – 12:40		
10 12:44 – 1:25		
11 1:29 - 2:10		
2:15 – 2:55	INSTRUCTIONAL ASSISTANCE	

TABLE OF CONTENTS

Inside Front Cover – Daily Schedule – 2022-2023 School Year

miside Front Cover – Dany Schedule – 2022-2025 School Teal	<u>Pages</u>
Section One – <u>General Information</u>	2-9
The Westhill Central School District	2
Westhill High School Graduation Requirements	6
Westhill High School Calendar	8
Westhill Central School District Administration	9
Board of Education	9
Westhill High School Administration	9
Section Two – <u>Academic Policies and Procedures</u>	10-16
Academic Success	10
Report Cards	10
Determination of Grade Point Average	12
Class Membership Requirements	12
Honor Roll	13
National Honor Society	13
Schedule Change Policy	15
Physical Education	16
Thysical Education	10
Section Three – <u>Student Behavioral Expectations and Policies</u>	17-25
Introduction	17
Attendance Policy	17
Class Attendance Policy (Unexcused Absences)	18
Homeroom	18
Study Hall	18
Late Arrivals	18
Early Dismissals	18
Instructional Assistance Period	19
Suspension	19
Late Detention	19
Detention	20
Smoking/Use of Electronic Cigarettes	20
Harassment	20
Academic Dishonesty	20
Weapons	20
Inappropriate Clothing	21

Vandalism	21
Electronic Devices	21
Fire Drills	21
Theft	21
Visitors	21
Gambling	22
Bus Rules	22
Transportation for School Activities	22
Defibrillators	22
Prom/Ball Dance Rules	22
Drug and Alcohol Policy	23
Internet Use Guidelines	24
Family Educational Rights and Privacy Act (FERPA)	25
Section Four – The School Building and Facilities	26-29
The Counseling Center	26
Counselor Assignments	27
Cafeteria	27
Elevator	27
Lavatories	28
Lockers	28
Driving to School/Parking Lots	28
Lost and Found	28
Outside Privileges	28
Textbooks	29
Do you need something? (Where to find things)	29
2,144 214 21 81 (m 1 1 1 1 1 m 1 8 m)	
Section Five - School Activities and School Spirit	30-35
Traditions at Westhill	
Clubs and Activities	30
Interscholastic Athletics	34
Alma Mater	35
Appendix – Student Extracurricular Code of Conduct	36-42
Appendix - Student Extracumicular Code of Conduct	30-42
Philosophy and Expectations	36
Academic Eligibility Policy	36
Athletic Eligibility	38
	•

Penalties for Violation of Student Code	39	1
Appendix – <u>Westhill High School Code of Conduct</u>	42-46]
Appendix II – <u>Board of Education Policies</u> Dignity for All Students: Prohibiting Discrimination and Hazing of Students	47-54 47	
Hazing of Students	52	
]

Dear Parents and Students:

On behalf of all staff, we welcome you to Westhill High School. This handbook is designed as a guide regarding Westhill High School's program and expectations. It contains general information, a brief school history, and our policies and procedures. It also contains a description of our building facilities and our Code of Conduct. It is important to review this handbook with your child.

This handbook is an important communication tool between the home and school. Please stress to your child the learning process and the importance of being involved with the Westhill High School community of learning. Encourage your child to work diligently to meet the New York State learning standards, to meet the expectations of a high school student, and to participate in extracurricular activities. A healthy balance of studies and activities increases student success. Please feel free to call our office at (315)426-3100 extension 3101. If we are not available, please leave your name and number with the secretary and we will return your call as soon as possible.

We welcome any suggestions you may have regarding how we might improve this handbook in future years. We look forward to a positive partnership and a successful school year. The very best success is achieved when the school, the student, and the parents all work together cooperatively. We look forward to a very exciting year!

Sincerely,

Lee C. Roscoe Principal Daniel Dolan Assistant Principal

SECTION ONE

THE WESTHILL CENTRAL SCHOOL DISTRICT

The Westhill Central School District officially came into existence on July 1, 1958. Earlier that year the citizens in three common districts voted to centralize and form one school district with the purpose of improving educational opportunities for their children.

The three former common school districts forming the centralization were: Geddes No. 1 (Westvale), Onondaga No. 3 (Avery), and Onondaga No. 6 (Onondaga Hill). The district is bound on the east by the city of Syracuse, on the south by the Onondaga Central School District, on the west by the West Genesee School District, and on the north by the village of Solvay. Geographically the District runs approximately north and south with former Common District Onondaga No. 5 forming a narrow connecting link with Geddes No. 1 to the north and Onondaga No. 6 to the south. The district covers an approximate distance of seven miles north to south and its greatest width is about two and one half miles.

Westhill Junior–Senior High School opened in September 1961, offering programs for grades 7–10. The first graduating class received its diplomas in June 1964. In September 1964, Westhill was officially registered by the Education Department of the University of the State of New York. In September of 1973, the Westhill Junior–Senior High School became the Westhill High School serving grades 9–12.

In 1990, the New York State Education Department named Westhill as one of the most outstanding schools in the state, and in 1992 we were selected by Redbook Magazine as one of the 140 finest high schools in the United States, honored for our overall excellence. Our greatest honor came in 1993 when Westhill High School was named as a Blue Ribbon School by the United States Department of Education.

As we begin the 2022-2023 school year, we continue to put forth the effort as teachers, administrators, and students that brought us national recognition in the nineties. Westhill continues to maintain its reputation as one of the finest high schools in the state through our varied achievements: an educational record second to none, combined with successes in sports, music and drama, art and photography, and academic competitions. Many of you have already been a part of these achievements:

The remainder of this handbook explains our expectations and guidelines, designed to ensure that all of you continue to have the best opportunities to obtain an education that will serve you well beyond high school. Enjoy the year!

Westhill High School 2021-2022 Highlights

Art Department:

- The Art Department with help from the Portfolio Club put together our first in person art show since before the pandemic. Students and their families as well as WHS community members attended.
- Art students entered artwork in the Scholastic Art Competition winning 3 awards. 2 Silver Key, 1 Honorable Mention.
- Almost every student in the Art Department hung work in the art exhibit by the library stairs; student artwork was also displayed in the District Office and WHS Main Office.
- 6 students created portraits for the Memory Project.
- 1 art student created 2 original designs for the Track team.
- 3 art students created t-shirt designs supporting Ukraine. Proceeds were sent to UNICEF to help feed the children of Ukraine.
- 4 art students created a large 4'x8' mural for the Nurse's Office at the high school.
- 4 art students created 4 ink drawings to be hung together in the Nurse's Office at the high school.
- Art Club took 19 students to New York City to visit the galleries in Chelsea and view the 2022 Biennial Show at the Whitney Museum.
- Ceramic students competed in the 33rd annual Feats of Clay at OCC along with 20 other schools from all over Central NY.

Business/Computer Department:

- There were 59 students who received three OCC college credits for successful completion of OCC Business 101 or OCC Business Math 102.
- OCC Business 101 classes completed a new business plan as their final project. Members of our community who are current entrepreneurs, came
 into the class. They observed their presentations and provided realistic feedback and suggestions.
- The Yearbook staff was awarded the following:
 - Jostens 2022 National Yearbook Program of Excellence at the Silver level.
- The yearbook staff continued with the insert which highlights the current year Junior Prom which will be mailed to all juniors. There is also a senior insert, mailed to all seniors, which highlights the Senior Ball and Graduation.
- The Westhill Foundation reached out to the Business Department to ask for student involvement in creating a video to promote the Foundation. Four students collaborated to create a beautiful and professional video for the Foundation to use in the future.

English Department:

- Students at all grade levels began the new year with collaboration and discussions concerning summer reading selections that encouraged independent and collaborative reflections.
- New York Times bestselling author April Henry presented a virtual author visit to all 9th grade classes. Henry is the author of mysteries, thrillers and young adult novels. She shared her experiences as an author with a presentation and a question/answer session.
- ELA students in all courses read and researched a multitude of current societal issues to engage in conversations and promote critical thinking skills.
- To extend their knowledge of many newfound formats honed during virtual learning, students engaged in multimodal contexts to create innovative
 work and showcase authentic learning.
- Students in OCC and SUPA English courses worked to hone analysis and argument practices that will carry across academic disciplinary lines and into their professional and civic writing as they move into future endeavors.
- Through reading and composing a variety of texts, students gained knowledge of rhetorical principles, and the ability to draw on those concepts as
 observers, readers, writers, and citizens. Students also engaged with texts that supported and promoted the foundations of the Positivity Project.
- Students in English 10 Honors and English 12 Regents learned about a sample of notable Black Americans in the arts from the 1960s to the present (James Baldwin, Jacob Lawrence, Rita Dove, Basquiat, and Tupak Shakur), then researched and shared information about a Black American of their choice who was influential in their chosen field. Choices included influential artists, writers, tech developers, actors and actresses, athletes, clothing designers, and musicians, just to name a few.
- Students in English 9 Honors used Checkology to improve their media literacy skills. Students used these skills to research controversial topics and
 prepare with a small team to compete in a debate.
- Students in English 11R engaged in a criminal justice literature circle that involved reading either *Just Mercy* by Bryan Stevenson or *The 57 Bus* by Dashka Slater. Students developed inquiry topics based on their reading and ultimately created a magazine to raise awareness and advocate for a change in policy or practice that was rooted in their research.

Library:

- Student-led book club revived and active!
- Virtual author visit from April Henry, combined with book giveaway for students sponsored by the Westhill Educational Foundation.
- Evening student field trip to the Civic Center to hear Jason Reynolds present as part of the Rosamond Gifford Lecture Series.
- In-person presentation by Iditarod racer Karen Land and her dogs!
- Mindfulness programs, led by Onondaga Free Librarian, were coordinated by and held in the Westhill High School Library.

World Language Department:

- The World Language Department continues to collaborate regularly in order to provide a solid world language program to all students. This year, the Westhill WL 7-12 program designed activities to support student's language learning as we came back to in-person learning grades 7-12. We have applied for summer work in order to create a unit plan under the New WL Standards. Margie Jimenez will be lead on this summer curriculum work. She created a Checkpoint A unit exemplar through her work with the NYSED OBEWL team. Google Classroom used throughout the department, as well as daily agendas and materials posted to Classroom.
- <u>Platforms</u> that were used to increase language learning student learning in the WL classrooms: Boomcards, Blooket, Conjuguemos, FlipGrid, Gimkit, Padlet, Quizizz, Quizlet, Spandict

Spanish II /III

- Focused on growing student academic confidence, study skills and healthy habits.
- Taught students effective strategies to improve vocab acquisition.
- Edited classroom curriculum /materials to match learners as they transitioned to in-person learning.
- Peer Tutoring: Spanish National Honor Society students worked with 9th graders who were looking for help in order to improve their Spanish skills. Students came for help when needed. Tutees appreciated the practice, tutors learned a lot from their work and also earned Honor Society hours.

Spanish V AP

- Implemented curriculum that aligned with the new AP Spanish requirements and lay out.
- Used the *Handheld audio recorders* audio program consistently throughout the year.
- Used social media to connect with students and for students to connect with native Spanish speakers.
- Student-led instruction. During the reading of *Don Quijote* each student was responsible for designing a lesson plan and leading the class discussion and activities for their assigned chapter.
- Used Google Classroom and other Google applications throughout the year.

Spanish IV H

- Created new and original assessments
- Students created Vine Videos for their vocabulary.
- Used social media, primarily Twitter and Instagram to communicate with students outside of class and connect them to current events in the Spanish speaking world.
- Researched current events on major Spanish speaking websites for presentations.

Spanish III

- Implemented original assessments and projects for course.
- Implemented new technology such as Kahoot! and Quizlet Live!
- Applied real world experiences from Spanish speaking countries into daily lessons through videos, articles, television shows, etc.
- Used social media to connect with native speakers.
- Wrote and presented movie critiques on present day movies, also showed the students the difference in movie titles between American and Spain.

Math Department:

- After last year's forced hiatus, Westhill's Math Team had a successful season this year! Both of our teams showed off their expert problem-solving
 skills by scoring well at all 5 meets. Our "Pi's Guys" team was led by two seniors and high scorers. We were excited to see our "Cade and
 Freshman" team have a solid group participation and do well in each meet.
- Math team member was involved in the committee to select new furniture for the new classrooms. Her classroom was a test room for various new
 furniture choices, and she hosted other teachers/classes so they could experience the choices.
- Several math team members served on the summer 2021 P2 committee to plan for the 2021-2022 school year.

Music Department:

- Westhill named as a NAMM Foundation Best Community for Music Education in the Nation for 2022
- Music Students selected to instrumental and vocal honor groups including:
 - NYSSMA Conference All-State
 - Symphoria Youth Orchestra
 - OCMEA All County Band, Chorus, Vocal Jazz, and Jazz Ensemble
 - NYSBDA Honor Band
- 70 students performed more than 1400 hours of musical service through their participation in the Tri-M National Honor Society for Music.
- The Westhill Education Foundation sponsored our Day of Jazz featuring the Huntertones. The Huntertones led our grade 7-12 Jazz Ensembles in a
 day of masterclasses, concerts, and clinics. They performed for students at OHMS, WHS, and also the greater community in an evening concert.
- The Masquers Club presented this year's musical: The Addams Family
- The Drama Club staged Larceny and Old Lace.
- Students enrolled in Studio Music develop skills related to the music industry: live sound engineering, audio editing, audio recording, and music
 production. For the culminating project, students assumed the role of producer and used a variety of research methods to learn about different
 production techniques a producer uses to create original music in a studio. They then combined that with a visual media presentation.

Physical Education Department:

• The greatest highlight in physical education this year was the addition of Ms. Danielle Sayler to the PE staff. She brought in fresh ideas, positivity, and phenomenal energy. As for course offerings, there were some great additions to the curriculum. New variations of chipping and putting competitions during the golf unit added excitement. We created an instant classic called Warrior Ball. Warrior Ball is a combination of soccer, basketball, and team handball all played with a dodgeball. The new "throwback games" unit was a hit. Students brought back their Cherry Road glory days with Sneaky Little Elf and Prison Football. Physical education classes ended the school year with the most impactful unit we've ever offered; self-defense for juniors and seniors. These classes were led by Officer Peter Heise. The classes were intense. Students were engaged throughout and left the sessions feeling more prepared to "take action" if they, or another innocent person, is ever in danger. A special thanks goes out to Officer Heise and Officer Sweeney for making this amazing experience possible for our students!

Science Department:

- Students in Mrs. Kemper's biology class enjoyed a full year of in class learning with a lot of hands-on activities. In the fall, the biology students studied the ecological health of the Harbor Brook stream by analyzing macroinvertebrates living in the stream located next to the high school. Biology students were introduced to more Inquiry or student designed laboratory investigations throughout the year showcasing how to answer student developed questions through experimentation. The first experiment involved students selecting a variable and how that variable affected pillbug preference using choice chambers, the students even brought in their own pill bugs from home. The year continued with more interactive activities that included a cell part and function "speed dating" activity, diagnosing a patient to determine the type of diabetes the patient suffers from to understanding how humans have impacted our fragile environment.
- PBL on Henrietta Lack- "The Human Behind HeLa"
 - O Students spent time learning about Henrietta Lacks and the contributions her HeLa cells made to science. The timing was perfect for both Cellular Reproduction and Black History Month. Henrietta's story is a compelling one. We kicked off the project by reading parts of the "Immortal Life of Henrietta Lacks" by Rebecca Skloot. While listening to her story, students created an extensive list of questions, one of which would become their focus question for their project. All students were tasked with discussing her life, the bioethics surrounding her story, along with the contributions made from her cells. We also spent time learning about bioethics, engaging in debates, using library databases, and citing information in APA format! In the shared slideshow you will learn about her cells and why they're considered immortal, why scientists sent them into outer space, how they were used to create the polio & covid vaccines, chemotherapy drugs, and much more. Some students focused on the ethics surrounding consent to use our cells for research purposes (while others profit), some focused on race, income, and education and the role it played in her treatment as a black female in the 1950's. Students created murals, podcasts, informational videos, websites, and digital scrapbooks. Pretty impressive!
 - Wrote a Westhill Educational Foundation Grant for Carbon Dioxide Probes for Climate Change Activities:
 - o PBL on "Creating our Own Carbon Sinks"
 - Planned with BOCES PBL Coordinator and executed an end of the year project on creating our own unique Carbon sinks as a way to combat climate change. The CO2 probes were used to measure their experimental design.

Environmental Science

- Raised Atlantic salmon and brown trout eggs, and released them into Nine Mile Creek as part of restoration effort by the NYS DEC.
- Went on a field trip to Montezuma Wildlife Refuge to learn about migratory birds and the importance of the Refuge as a stop over location.

OCC Biology

- Went on a field trip to the Rosamond Gifford Zoo as part of a review activity for Bio 152 content involving phylogeny in the Animal Kingdom, as well as comparative anatomy and physiology.
- Forensic Science class studied blood spatter this month. The blood spatter unit helped students understand how Crime Scene Investigators look at
 blood evidence. Students spent a day recreating common patterns found at crime scenes. This included cast off patterns from fake weapons splatter
 patterns, blood droplets, and movement patterns. Students had fun wearing their rain ponchos, shoe covers, and gloves to protect their outfits from
 the fake blood.
- Environmental Science students participated in a Google meeting with Iditarod musher Karen Land and her sled dogs, where students were able to
 ask questions about the race, the dogs and Alaska.
- Environmental Science students raised brown trout and Atlantic salmon from eggs to the fry stage, at which time they were released into Nine Mile Creek. During this time, students learned about the life cycle of both fish species and their importance as "indicator species".

- After an OCC Biology student presented her Ecology and Sustainability Research Project on whaling, the class raised money to adopt a whale to promote conservation.
- The pandemic created an opportunity for the biology teachers to be creative in involving hybrid students to complete labs at home. "Biobags" were created by the living environment teachers at the beginning of the year and were distributed to students. Students had supplies in these "biobags" to complete biology labs whether they were learning at home or at school. Creating this opportunity for hands-on learning kept students engaged and connected to the learning happening in science.

Social Studies Department:

- Worked directly with the OHMS Social Studies Teachers to focus on our commonalities.
- Worked directly with the English Department through meetings and finding commonality.
- Incorporated music, art, literature, and poetry into each unit of AP World History and Global 10.
- Utilized many differentiated learning experiences for the students of Westhill.
- Worked with BOCES to start the foundations of the Seal of Civic Readiness Program to start in 2023.
- Collaborated with the entire department with approaches, ideas and activities to enhance the learning experience of our students.
- After a year hiatus due to Covid, we restarted the food drive after Thanksgiving Break! It was a huge success and we delivered 2500 cans to St. Lucy's for the annual food drive on 12/21.
- The Social Studies Department also met with the English Department. We will continue to meet and discuss reinforcing the overlapping skills in both classes.
- Utilized the Library Media Center for collaborative activities with Karen Fenner
 - Indian Ocean Trade Simulation
 - Silk Road Trade Simulation student-centered Socratic Seminars

Special Education Department:

- Students prepared an Italian dinner for Renaissance
- Students sent decorated pumpkins to a local nursing home.
- Students constructed bird feeders
- Students constructed aqueducts.
- Students created holiday greetings for distribution to staff.
- Students in Mr. Zaia's class operated Warrior Brews, a coffee/tea service
- Purchased a new sustainable picnic table for front of the school
- Participated in a Youth Climate Summit (with other CNY Schools) and developed an action plan for WHS
- Participated in OCRRA Trash Cleanup Day

FBLA/DECA:

- This was a transition year for our business club. We moved from FBLA (The Future Business Leaders of America club) to DECA (Distributive Education Clubs of America.) Several students reached out to explore the possibility of making this transition in order to compete with other high schools in the state. We gave it a try and it was a HUGE success! We had 17 students compete in December at the regional competition and 10 won 1st place! Nine of those winners moved on to the State competition in March and of the 9, 7 placed at the State competition as well!
- Next year we will continue with DECA as it was a tremendous experience, and we hope to have even more students give it a try! We also plan to
 incorporate field trips to visit local businesses and participate in some community service.

French National Honor Society:

• Successful French National Honor Society induction held in person with the help of all of the previous year's Members.

French Club:

- MWPAI in Utica: museum visit. Belgian artist, de Borchgrave, history of fashion in paper
- Cine Club met 4-5 times this year.
- Crêpe sale (10/20)
- Correspondence with Belgian Penpals (21-22)
- Syracuse Crunch game : French night at the CRUNCH!! (04/22)
- Paint Westvale Purple : participation of French Club & FNHS (05/22)
- Bake Sale--huge participation and homemade items (05/22)
- AP « graduation » ceremony: cords, certificates, berets & cake (6/22)
- AP French dinner at Joelle's French Bistro (6/22)

Literary Magazine:

The WHS Literary Magazine is a collaborative effort that is student-run/edited on a yearly basis. The magazine represents the WHS student body's
fantastic creativity and showcases various artistic formats. Congratulations to all of those who submitted work this year for the installment titled:
Adrift.

Shakespeare Club:

One of our seniors was awarded runner-up in the regional English Speaking Union Shakespeare Competition.

Spanish Club:

- Cultural food/snacks (tres leches cake, pudding, María crackers, Mexican street corn dip with tortilla chips, jamón serano, chupachups, chicharrón)
- Cultural music (bachata, Ricky Martin, reggaetón, mariachi, salsa, tango, paso doble)
- Movies (Encanto, Coco, McFarland USA)
- Games (Thanksgiving vocab Bingo, lotería, domino)
- Crafts (sugar skulls)

Spanish National Honor Society:

Successful in-person Spanish National Honor Society induction held with the help of previous year's members

WESTHILL HIGH SCHOOL GRADUATION REOUIREMENTS

CREDITS

All students at Westhill High School must obtain a total of **22 credits** in order to receive a Westhill Diploma. Each credit is earned by achieving a course average of 70% or more. The minimum number of credits to be earned in each subject is as follows:

English - 4 credits (English 9, 10, 11, 12)

Social Studies - 4 credits (including Global History, American History, Economics and Government)

Science - 3 credits; one must be in a life science course, one must be in a physical science course, and the third may be in either life sciences or physical sciences.

Mathematics - 3 credits

Foreign Language (language other than English) - 1 credit must be earned by the completion of grade 9; may be earned either by studying the language in seventh and eighth grade <u>and</u> passing the State second language proficiency exam; or by passing a level 1 foreign language course <u>or</u> State proficiency exam in high school.

Visual Arts and/or Music and/or Theatre - 1 credit (see the Course Catalogue for a list of courses which satisfy this requirement) **Health Education** - 1/2 credit

Physical Education - 2 credits (1/2 credit per year)

Note: Students may substitute a locally approved technology course for the third Mathematics or Science, but not both (see the Course Catalogue for a list of courses which may be used to satisfy this option).

DIPLOMAS

According to the Commissioner's Regulations, two primary types of diplomas are available to Westhill High School students: the Regents Diploma, and the Regents Diploma with Advanced Designation. The requirements of each are described below:

Regents Diploma

Credits – see above

Examinations – must achieve a score of 65 or more on each of the following Regents Examinations:

English – Common Core English Exam (grade 11) English – Comprehensive Exam (grade 11) Global History and Geography (grade 10) United States History and Government (grade 10) Mathematics – Any Regents Exam in Math Science – Any Regents Exam in Science

OR 4 Regents Exams + 1 Pathway Option

(Refer to page 5 of the Course Catalog for a description of the various pathway options.)

Regents Diploma with Advanced Designation

<u>Credits</u> – all coursework necessary for the Regents Diploma, plus Foreign Language – two additional credits (total of three – must be in the same language)

<u>Examinations</u> – scores of 65 or more on all exams required for the Regents Diploma, plus scores of 65 or more on each of the following:

Mathematics: Geometry and Algebra2/Trigonometry
Science: a second Science Regents Exam, one of the two must have been a
Regents in a physical science other than a life science
Foreign Language: the local proficiency exam
OR 7 Regents Exams + 1 Pathway Option

(Refer to page 5 of the Course Catalog for a description of the various pathway options.)

Students pursuing the Regents Diploma with Advanced Designation may complete a 5-unit "sequence" in occupational (career and technical) education, art, or music in lieu of the two additional credits and the Regents Exam in the foreign language as described above. These students are still required, however, to earn the one foreign language unit listed above as part of the 22 credits necessary for graduation.



Students in Mr. Zaia's math class are participating in "Warrior Brews". They take orders, calculate supplies needed, prepare and deliver beverages to staff members.

Westhill High School Calendar 2022-2023

August 30New Student OrientationAugust 31Staff Development DaySeptember 1Staff Development DaySeptember 6First Day of School

September 19 & 20 Underclass School Pictures--taken in PE classes

September 21 Open House (parents)
October 7 Bonfire, WHS vs. Cortland
October 10 Columbus Day – No School

October 12 5-week interim reports available online

November 5 Band/Chorus Annual Garage Sale – 9 a.m. – 3 p.m. November 8 Staff Development Day – No School for Students

November 9 First Quarter ends-reports online 11/16

November 11 Veterans Day – No School

November 18-19 High School Fall Drama Production

November 23-25 Thanksgiving Recess

December 21 National Honor Society Fall Inductions
December 21 15-week interim reports available online

December 23-January 2 Holiday Recess

January 16 Martin Luther King Day – No School January 23-26 Final Exams for Semester Courses &

Regents Exams

January 27 End of Second Quarter – reports online 2/1

February 20-24 Winter Recess

March 10-12 High School Spring Musical Production

March 13 Staff Development Day – No School for Students

March 15 25-week interim reports available online

April 3-7 Spring Break

April 19 Third Quarter ends – reports online 4/26

April 29 Junior Prom

May 10 National Honor Society Spring Inductions

May 23 Academic Awards

May 24 35-week interim reports available online May 26 & 29 Memorial Day Weekend – No School

June 9 Last day of classes/Fourth Quarter ends, reports online 6/28

June 9 Senior Ball

June 12-21 Finals and Regents Exams

June 17 GRADUATION for Class of 2023 June 26 Summer School registration

WESTHILL CENTRAL SCHOOL DISTRICT

Mr. Stephen Dunham, Superintendent Mr. Steven E. Smith, Assistant Superintendent for Business Administration Ms. Darcy Woodcock, Assistant Superintendent for Curriculum and Instruction

BOARD OF EDUCATION

Mrs. Lisa O'Reilly, President
Mrs. Roseanne Scrimale, Vice President
Mr. James Wickersham
Mr. Andrew Starowicz
Mr. Patrick Cassidy

WESTHILL HIGH SCHOOL

Mr. Lee C. Roscoe, Principal Mr. Daniel Dolan, Assistant Principal

SECTION TWO

ACADEMIC POLICIES AND PROCEDURES

ACADEMIC SUCCESS

Perhaps our most important, collective goal as a school, and critical to the education of all students, is that students master the tools of learning; that is, they must "learn how to learn." To that end, the following are characteristics of successful Westhill High School students:

- Students should remember that homework may be assigned daily with both short-term and long-term due dates. Using time wisely during school (study halls, and IA), and dedicating time after school, will ensure the successful completion of assignments. Homework expectations will likely be greater for honors and college level courses. Teachers may assign students to mandatory IA for those who fail to complete assignments. If you miss homework assignments due to absences, check with friends or the teacher's electronic platform (Google classroom, or website) to find out what work was assigned. Every effort should be made to catch up as soon as possible and according to your teachers' expectations.
- They display pride in both learning and academic integrity;
- Their behavior and attitude display a sincere interest and dedication to learning;
- They respect each teacher's academic leadership, and realize that assignments are leading them toward a goal;
- They realize that grades are a measure of what they know at that point in a course; they do not debate grades but rather accept their measure as earned. Personal achievement is considered to be more important than class standing;

All students should remember that a teacher has a right to expect that homework will be done on a daily basis; if it is not done on any particular day, you may be assigned to stay for the Instructional Assistance period. If you miss homework assignments due to absence, have a friend bring them home to you, and catch up as soon as possible and according to your teachers' expectations.

REPORT CARDS

Our marking system is intended to give you the fairest possible rating in your school subjects. We hope you will accept these grades as a means of helping you to improve or, ideally, as an indicator that you are achieving academic excellence.

Report cards are posted online through the Parent Portal at the end of each ten-week period for grades 9-12. Scholastic accomplishment is indicated by numerical marks. These marks will be based on regular class work, homework, laboratory work, tests and quizzes. By the end of a full-year course, you will have four ten-week marks. For courses that do not end with a Regents exam, each of these grades, and also your final exam grade, will count as 20% of your final average. In other words, add the five marks together and divide by 5. For courses that end in a Regents exam, final averages will be calculated using only the four ten-week marks (each counting 25%). In other words, add the four marks together and divide by 4. Your performance on a Regents exam will not affect your final average for that class.

For semester courses, the method by which the final average will be computed is comparable to the above; each quarter grade is counted twice and the final exam once, and the sum is divided by 5 to determine a final grade. Note that the passing grade at Westhill High School is <u>70%</u>.

The first three marking periods of a full-year course (or the first marking period of a one-semester course), the grades shown on your report card, must be between 50 and 100%. However, should your true grade be less than 50%, your teacher should give you a grade of "F." This means that you may work during the next ten weeks to bring this grade up to a maximum of 50%. (Failure to do so will result in the original grade being posted.) Or, should you be legally absent for an extended period of time, your teacher may give you an Incomplete on your report card, which means that you will have five weeks to make up missed work and have the "INC" replaced with a numerical grade. In either case, talk to your teacher, decide together what work you have to make up, and the date on which it is due.

Halfway through each ten—week period in grades 9–12 a special report will be posted online through the Parent Portal with appropriate comments on student attitude and progress.

CLASS RANKINGS AND GRADUATION HONORS Class Rank

- 1. Class Ranking will be calculated in two ways:
 - a. *All-Subject*: Based on all courses taken in grades 9-11 (six semesters to also include high school courses taken in grade 8 such as math, science, and foreign language) *excluding courses taken on college campuses*.
 - b. *Academic*: Based on core courses (English, Social Studies, Math, Science, and Foreign Language courses taken in grades 9-11 (six semesters to also include high school courses taken in grade 8 including math, science and foreign language) courses *taken on college campuses are excluded*.
- 2. The cumulative GPA and class rank calculated through August of junior year is the official GPA/rank used in the senior year. GPA/rank is not re-calculated at the end of senior year.
- 3. Students will be ranked out to three decimal places, and rank is not rounded. Students with identical GPAs out to three decimal places will share the same rank.
- 4. Students who attend alternative education programs, have been homeschooled any time during grades 9-12, or who transfer into Westhill after their sophomore year will receive a parallel ranking.

Ranking of CDOS/NYSSAAC Candidates

Those students who are receiving modified academic programs and who are CDOS/NYSSAAC candidates will not have their averages calculated in the ranking of the entire class. If needed, the student's average can be compared with the entire rank in class averages and a parallel rank provided.

Graduation Honors

Valedictorian: The academic title awarded to the student(s) earning the highest weighted <u>academic</u> grade point average in their graduating class.

Salutatorian: The academic title awarded to the student(s) earning the second highest weighted <u>academic</u> grade point average in their graduating class.

For a student to receive valedictorian or salutatorian, the following apply:

- 1. Valedictorian and Salutatorian status will be determined at the end of the first semester of the senior year. It will be based on the weighted unrounded academic grade point average based on seven semesters.
- 2. The valedictorian and salutatorian must be students enrolled in the 12^{th} grade and graduating with their cohort class (based on when students entered 9^{th} grade).
- 3. The student must have attended Westhill High School for at least four consecutive semesters immediately preceding the determination of the class valedictorian and salutatorian.
- 4. If a student has attended an alternative education program at any time during grades 9-12, alternative education grades are excluded and therefore students who have attended an alternative education program will not be eligible for valedictorian or salutatorian honors.
- 5. If a student was home schooled at any time during grades 9-12, home schooling grades are excluded and therefore home schooled students will not be eligible for valedictorian or salutatorian honors.
- 6. Only students who have satisfactorily completed the Regents Diploma with Advanced Designation, Regents or Local Diploma curriculum shall be eligible for valedictory and salutatory honors.
- 7. In the case of a tie for valedictorian or salutatorian, co-valedictorians and/or co-salutatorians will be recognized.

Senior Honors

Outstanding Seniors

The "Founding Fathers" of Westhill High School determined that it would be most appropriate to honor those students who not only achieve academically, but also in a number of other areas as well. Accordingly, the tradition of selecting the Most Outstanding Seniors was initiated. The recipients of this honor are the two students who best represent all that Westhill embodies. If we were asked to send two students to meet with the governor, the Commissioner of Education, or the President of the United States, these would be the two students we would send! Westhill's tradition is to have the Most Outstanding Seniors speak at graduation.

Annual Grade Level Awards

The Old English "W"

The Old English "W" is a traditional Westhill award bestowed on the two individual students who have earned the highest weighted <u>academic</u> grade point average (based on the first three marking periods only) in their respective grade levels for the current school year. The Old English "W" is one of Westhill's most honored traditions.

Determination of Grade Point Average

In determining the grade point average and rank in class, the following guidelines are in effect:

- 1. The student's final course grade will be used to determine the GPA.
- 2. For Honors, Advanced Placement and academic college level courses, six points are added to the final mark for computing the grade point average.
- 3. Grades will be weighted in direct relationship to the unit value of the course (example: 1/2 unit = 1/2 value).
- 4. Grade point average and class rank will be computed two ways (academic only: English, Social Studies, Math, Science, and Foreign Language; or all subjects). The higher of the two results will be posted on each student's transcript.
- 5. If a student repeats a course, the initial course grade and the final grade of the repeated course are each counted individually and as separate and unique entries in the calculation of GPA.
- 6. A Regents or local exam taken without an accompanying and linked course of study will have no bearing on course credit earned or on a student's GPA.

Posting Grades

All final marks, final exam grades and units of credit will be posted on a student's transcript. If a final exam is taken more than once (e.g. - a Regents exam), the highest grade will be posted.

CLASS MEMBERSHIP REQUIREMENTS

Students must have completed the following units in order to be officially classified with and entitled to the privileges of the high school classes shown below:

TO BE CLASSIFIED	YOU SHOULD HAVE	AND YOU MUST
AS A	<u>COMPLETED</u>	HAVE PASSED
SOPHOMORE	5 units	English 9, Social Studies 9
JUNIOR	10 units	English 10, Social Studies 10
SENIOR	15 units	English 11, Social Studies 11

NOTE: The above totals include credit for Physical Education.

HONOR ROLL

The Honor Roll is published in the district *Hill and Vale* at the close of each report card marking period. Its purpose is to encourage scholastic excellence by giving recognition to students who have achieved an above—average record during a given marking period. In order for a student's name to be placed on the Honor Roll, he or she must have met the following criteria:

- 1. An overall, unweighted, rounded average grade of 85 or above; (Alternate-day courses such as Physical Education count half. Courses that meet after school are not considered for the Honor Roll.)
- 2. All of the student's unweighted grades must be 80 or above.

NATIONAL HONOR SOCIETY

The National Honor Society ranks as one of the oldest and most prestigious national organizations for high school students. Chapters exist in three—fourths of the nation's high schools, and since 1921, millions of students have been elected for membership. The selection procedure for the Westhill High School Chapter is as follows:

- 1. To be eligible for membership, a candidate must be a member of either the junior or senior class.
- 2. Candidates must first have a cumulative <u>academic</u> (not all–subject) average of 88% or greater (unrounded) after first semester of Junior year or the second quarter of the Junior year. (Note: A student's academic average is based upon grades in English, Social Studies, Mathematics, Science and Foreign Language.) Students who are eligible shall be notified and told that for further consideration they must complete a Student Activity Information Form. This form will be used to evaluate candidates on the basis of service, leadership and character. Input from the entire Westhill High School faculty is also considered.
- 3. The following guidelines will further help in the definition of service, leadership and character:

The student who serves...

- is willing to uphold scholarship and maintain a loyal school attitude;
- participates in some outside activity (e.g. Scouts, church groups, volunteer services);
- volunteers dependable and well-organized assistance, is gladly available, and willing to sacrifice to offer assistance;
- works well with others and is willing to take on difficult or inconspicuous responsibilities.

The student who exercises leadership...

- is resourceful in proposing new problems, applying principles, and making suggestions;
- demonstrates leadership in promoting school activities;
- exercises influence on peers in upholding school ideals;
- contributes ideas that improve the civic life of the school;
- successfully holds school offices or positions of responsibility;
- demonstrates leadership in the classroom, at work and in school activities.

The student of character...

- takes criticism willingly and accepts recommendations graciously;
- constantly exemplifies desirable qualities of personality;
- upholds principles of morality and ethics;
- demonstrates the highest standards of honesty and reliability;
- manifests truthfulness in acknowledging obedience to rules, avoiding cheating in any form, and showing unwillingness to profit by the mistakes of others.

- 4. A faculty council appointed by the principal shall meet at least once a year to select members and to consider dismissal, non-selection, and warning cases. The Student Activity Information Form shall be reviewed by the faculty council, along with any other verifiable information about each candidate. The selection of members shall be by a majority vote of the council, and shall be consistent with the rules and regulations of the National Honor Society.
- 5. A National Honor Society Member who transfers to our school and brings a letter from the former principal or chapter advisor shall be accepted automatically as a member in good standing.
- 6. The annual induction ceremony is held in the spring of each year. From time to time, special induction ceremonies are also held in the late fall for seniors.
- 7. Students inducted into the National Honor Society are expected to maintain an 88 cumulative academic grade point average to remain a member. In addition, NHS members are considered leaders in both the school and community and are held to high principles set forth on a national level. The students must remain active in school and chapter activities and continue to be role models.

Local membership requirements include:

- Attendance at monthly meetings
- Completing required volunteer hours as determined by elected officers
- Peer tutoring program
- Payment of yearly dues

Dismissal from NHS: Students who fail to uphold the standards set forth in the national charter, as well as the school's Code of Conduct, to include suspension from school will be subject to dismissal. Dismissal procedures have been established based on the NHS guidelines. Students have the right to a hearing with the faculty council prior to dismissal.



SCHEDULE CHANGE POLICY

Routine Changes in Schedule (drops and adds)

- 1. Our student registration system incorporates course requests and class balancing, and enables most students to take the courses they wish to take; very few schedule changes should be necessary as late as August.
- 2. Ninth and tenth grade students must carry the equivalent of six units of work each semester, plus physical education. Eleventh and twelfth graders must carry the equivalent of five units each semester, plus physical education. Exceptions to this are the following:
 - <u>Seniors</u> who take any <u>two</u> courses which are scheduled to meet more than 2 times in 2 days may reduce their course load by one;

Dropping a Course

A student may drop a course with good reasons and parent and teacher permission. In any instance, the student must maintain at least the required units of work. It is expected that the student will attend class until the drop is completed.

Full-Year Course Timetable

- Start of year one week after the 15-week comment report: Such drops during this time result in no entry on the student permanent record and transcript.
- One week after the 15-week comment report one week after the 2nd quarter report card: If a student is having great difficulty in any course, they may have their parents call the Counseling Center to schedule a Parent-Teacher-Counselor-Student conference, at which time the request will be reviewed. Any course dropped during this time will result in an entry on the student's permanent record and transcript indicating the course was dropped.
- One week after the 2nd quarter report card: No changes in a full-year course are to be made unless a true emergency exists. In this case, a parent must call the Counseling Center to schedule a Parent-Teacher-Counselor-Student-Administrator conference. Any course dropped during this time will result in an entry on the student's permanent record and transcript indicating the course was dropped.

One-Semester Course Timetable

- Start of the year one week after the 5-week comment report: Such drops during this time result in no entry on the student permanent record and transcript.
- One week after the 5-week comment report one week after the 1st quarter report card: If a student is having great difficulty in any course, he/she may have his/her parents call the Counseling Center to schedule a Parent-Teacher-Counselor-Student conference, at which time the request will be reviewed. Any course dropped during this time will result in an entry on the student's permanent record and transcript indicating the course was dropped.
- One week after the 1st quarter report card end of semester: No changes in a one-semester course are to be made unless a true emergency exists. In this case, the parents must call the Counseling Center to schedule a Parent-Teacher-Counselor- Student-Administrator conference. Any course dropped during this time will result in an entry on the student's permanent record and transcript indicating the course was dropped.

Adding a Course

A student may enter a full—year course during the first five weeks of instruction. A student may enter a semester course during the first three weeks of instruction. In doing so, a student accepts the responsibility to make up all work missed, and is expected to reach an agreement with the teacher of the course on a timetable for catching up. After the prescribed time above, a student may enter only under extremely extenuating circumstances, and with permission of the teacher and an administrator.

Physical Education

All students are required to take physical education. You may be excused from PE class only by presenting the instructor with a note from your parents or by seeing the school nurse if you become ill during the day. If you will be absent from PE class for more than two consecutive class periods, you must present the instructor with a physician's excuse. If you are frequently absent from PE class, the school will require that you be examined by a physician and ask the physician to designate activities in which you may participate. When you return to PE class after a prolonged period, you must present the instructor with a physician's note releasing you to resume physical education activities. Students who are excused for a prolonged period will be required to complete a written curriculum or portion thereof. The State Education Department empowers the School Medical Officer to make final recommendations in case of disputes.

If you are ill, report to PE class and to your instructor, then to the Health Office. You are required to dress for PE, unless doing so would be injurious to your health. All students are required to change into appropriate clothing for PE class. Disciplinary action will be taken if you are repeatedly unprepared for class. Any student who fails Physical Education must make it up, since four years are required for graduation.



The Boys' Varsity Golf team won the Section III Championship title.

SECTION THREE

STUDENT BEHAVIORAL EXPECTATIONS AND POLICIES

INTRODUCTION

The following pages outline the expectations of our staff regarding student conduct. The consequences for student behavior, which is counter to these expectations, are compiled in a district Code of Conduct (as required by New York State Project SAVE legislation) and are summarized in the Appendix of this handbook. Particular attention should be paid to the Attendance Policy, which was formally adopted by the Westhill Board of Education in June 2003.

ATTENDANCE POLICY

The Education Law of the State of New York requires that all children between the ages of six and sixteen receive full—time instruction in school. Students who have completed the school year in which they turned sixteen need not attend school; however, those who do so are subject to the laws requiring regular attendance, and are governed too by the policy as stated below.

According to research, regular school attendance is a critical factor in student success. It is our experience, consistent with such studies, that students who are chronically absent and/or late are often not academically successful. We therefore strongly emphasize the importance of good attendance - students are expected to attend school <u>daily</u>, and get every day off to a good start by arriving <u>on time</u>.

It is of the greatest importance that a parent or guardian excuse all student absences and incidents of tardiness <u>in writing</u>. According to law, as well as district policy, the following are acceptable reasons for absence or tardiness: personal illness, illness or death in the family, religious observance, approved school-supervised activities, required presence in court, doctor or dentist appointments, and impassable roads or weather making travel unsafe. Reasons which are not acceptable, and which will result in a notation of "unexcused" on the student record, include but are not limited to: family vacation, working, oversleeping, missing the bus, car trouble, driver's test, hunting and fishing, and being needed at home. Students will face disciplinary action as a result of unexcused absences.

In advance of the written excuse, a parent or guardian is asked to notify the school by phone that the student is absent or tardy. Should this not occur, a staff member will attempt to call the student's parent or guardian for verification.

Upon a student's return to school, the written excuse should be taken to the Health Office. In the case of tardiness, the student should go directly to the Health Office to sign in and get a late pass. The first instance of unexcused tardiness will result in a warning regarding promptness to school. Subsequent offenses will be dealt with as outlined in the Appendix.

If a student is late going from one class to another, the teacher will record the tardiness, and may ask the student to stay after school to make up the time. The student is <u>not</u> to ask any of the main office staff, or any other high school staff member, for a late pass, unless they were in some way responsible for the tardiness to class.

Early Dismissals – Students are ordinarily expected to arrange their appointments with doctors, dentists, etc. outside of school hours. When emergencies occur that require a student to have an appointment during school hours, they must bring a written request from a parent or guardian and have it approved by the school nurse before first period. Such approval will include a phone call to the parent or guardian for verification of the request. Written requests of this nature must specify the date, time, and place of the appointment, the student's name, an explanation of the reason for the request, the signature of the parent or guardian, and the phone number where they can be reached prior to the dismissal. The note should also specify how the student would get from school to the place of the appointment. Westhill District regulations stipulate that a student is to be picked up by a parent or guardian or other responsible adult designated by the parent or guardian. In the case of an extreme emergency, when a parent or guardian cannot comply with this rule, they may ask that the child be permitted to walk. Such requests must be approved by the Principal or Assistant Principal.

CLASS ATTENDANCE POLICY (Unexcused Absences)

The consequences for cutting classes increase according to the frequency of the offense. For the first class cut, the student is assigned to IA and the classroom teacher sends a letter home. A second cut of the same class will result in an assignment to late detention and a letter from the Assistant Principal. A student who cuts a class for the third time will be assigned to three late detentions and an in-person parent conference will be held. Beyond the third cut, consequences will include additional late detentions, a conference with the Principal, and a possible suspension for insubordination.

HOMEROOM

Homeroom is incorporated into first period. The first period teacher is also the homeroom teacher. The last four minutes of first period will be devoted to the Pledge of Allegiance, morning announcements, attendance and other homeroom activities. All are expected to stand and display respect for our country during the pledge to the flag, and likewise following the pledge to be seated and listen carefully to the announcements. A student may not leave homeroom without permission. Students who have obtained a late arrival or have unstructured time during first period should report to their assigned homerooms between 8:15 and 8:20 A.M.

STUDY HALL

All Westhill High School students are assigned to study halls during non-class time (excluding lunch). Study hall teachers may not issue passes except in cases of absolute necessity. Similarly, a student will not be allowed to go to the cafeteria during their study hall period. Rather, it is expected that they will bring sufficient work and/or reading material to keep busy the entire period. Study halls are to be a quiet working environment - students should not interfere with other students' opportunities to read or do homework without interruption.

If a student wishes to leave study hall to go to the Counseling Center, work with an academic teacher, etc., they must present a pre-signed pass to the study hall teacher before being excused, and sign out of study hall. At the end of the period the pass must be returned, signed and with the time indicated, to the study hall teacher for verification. The burden of proof that one went to their destination lies with the student. It's a simple task that is easily taken care of by returning a legal pass. Failure to do so correctly will result in disciplinary action and/or a loss of pass privileges.

LATE ARRIVALS

Seniors without a class scheduled for first period may request a daily late arrival for 8:15 A.M. A Late Arrival Request Form should be completed and submitted to Mr. Roscoe. The late arrival will be granted on the condition that the student is regularly on time for homeroom, and with the expectation that the student will remain in good standing academically. A senior whose graduation is felt to be in jeopardy will not be allowed to have a late arrival. Students with a late arrival must be able to provide their own transportation to school.

EARLY DISMISSALS

A daily early dismissal is available for seniors who do not have a class or classes at the end of the day. All seniors who desire a daily early dismissal must fill out an Early Dismissal Request Form and submit it to Mr. Roscoe for approval. Once granted, end-of-day study hall(s) will be omitted from the student's schedule.

At that point, it is expected that the student will leave school at the specified time, unless they will be working in the library, computer lab, or with a teacher. Students who have a daily early dismissal but who need to stay IA should report to the library, or a computer lab rather than leave school and return for IA.

An early dismissal will be granted with the expectation that the student will remain in good standing academically. A senior whose graduation is felt to be in jeopardy will not be allowed to have an early dismissal.

INSTRUCTIONAL ASSISTANCE PERIOD

The Instructional Assistance Period is considered to be a regular part of the normal school day. Students are encouraged to take full advantage of the IA period, including seeking extra help from teachers and participating in clubs and other activities. Students are asked not to stay after school unless they will be under a teacher's supervision or working in the library or computer lab. As they are during class time, corridors in the academic wing are off limits during IA. Students found loitering during IA (not in the cafeteria or with a teacher in their classroom) will be subject to disciplinary action as outlined in the Appendix.

Under certain circumstances a teacher may require a student to stay in their room for IA. The student's attendance is mandatory. In addition, and since IA is an extension of our school day, students who misuse the IA period, to include leaving school property and returning for the late bus, may be subject to disciplinary action.

SUSPENSION

If a student becomes a serious discipline problem because they are insubordinate or disorderly, or because their physical or mental condition endangers the health, safety, or morals of him/herself or of other minors, they will be suspended from school for one to five days by the Principal. Repeated referrals for offenses, which individually might be considered to be minor (as outlined throughout this section and in the Appendix), may also result in a suspension from school. During the period of suspension, suspended students are not to be on school grounds or attend any after school or evening school functions, on or off the Westhill High School campus. In all situations that result in a student's suspension from school, the student's parent or guardian will be notified in accordance with the rules set forth in Article IX of this Code.

LATE DETENTION

Late detention is held on Mondays and Wednesdays from 2:16 to 5:00 PM, and is an alternative to Out—of—School Suspension for certain offenses. Since it takes place after school, it is consistent with our collective purpose of providing students with a quality education for which they need to be in class.

Students who are assigned to late detention will be given at least a one-day notice. Failure to attend late detention will result in a suspension from school for insubordination. The school does not provide transportation home from late detention; students will be required to make their own arrangements.



The Counseling Center celebrated "Piece of Cake Day" to celebrate our seniors.

DETENTION

Detention is assigned in cases of rules violations as outlined in the Appendix, and is held during the Instructional Assistance period. A Westhill staff member supervises the detention room. Students assigned to stay for detention must arrive on time and are expected to work on homework for the entire period. Disruptive behavior in detention (eating, talking, getting out of your seat) will result in immediate dismissal from detention and referral to the Assistant Principal for further disciplinary action.

Once an administrator has assigned a detention, usually one day or more in advance of the assigned period, it may not be rescheduled except in an emergency. In such a case, a written parental excuse should be submitted to the office <u>prior</u> to the detention, and the detention will be reassigned. Having to go to work or attend an athletic contest is <u>not</u> an acceptable reason to miss detention. It is best to avoid the behavior, which resulted in the detention in the first place.

SMOKING/USE OF ELECTRONIC CIGARETTES

In acknowledgement of the harmfulness of smoking, consistent with Federal and State law (to include recent New York State regulation banning e-cigarette use in public schools) and as a protection of our non-smokers' rights to a smoke-free school environment, all students are prohibited from smoking anywhere in the school, on school property, or on school buses. This includes evening events sponsored by the school. A student is considered to be smoking if he/she is involved in any part of the act of smoking including using or possessing electronic cigarettes. The penalties for smoking are set forth in the Appendix. Likewise unacceptable are any actions by a student who, in the judgment of a staff member, is enabling others to smoke.

HARASSMENT

In an effort to ensure that all Westhill students and staff are able to perform their respective roles free of intimidation and discomfort due to the physical or verbal conduct of others, all such harassment is prohibited. Specifically prohibited by a policy of the Westhill Board of Education is any form of sexual harassment. Students who are guilty of harassment will face immediate corrective action, which may include suspension or exclusion from school.

Students who feel that they have been harassed, or who have a concern about someone else's conduct, may inform an administrator, counselor, or teacher of such. All such information will be kept confidential. Incidents of sexual harassment will be dealt with according to the Board of Education policy, adopted October 12, 1993.

ACADEMIC DISHONESTY

Copying a fellow student's work with or without their permission, and without the authorization of the teacher to work together, is a serious offense, whether it involves homework assignments, tests, flash drives, lab or research projects, art or photography work, or work being shared on software platforms like Google Classroom. Likewise serious is the use of someone else's ideas or writings without proper documentation within an essay or research paper (plagiarism), or the unauthorized use of notes or other aids during a test. All of the above are examples of academic dishonesty, which is in some cases simply referred to as cheating.

The penalty for academic dishonesty may range from a warning to an assignment to late detention. The student should receive a zero for the work in question, and the teacher will notify the student's parent. Students should keep in mind that to provide another with the means to cheat is likewise dishonest. If a student needs assistance with methods of proper documentation, he/she should consult a faculty member.

WEAPONS

At no time may a student possess a weapon in school, on school property or on a school bus. This includes concealment in one's locker or school bag. Any student found to be in possession of a weapon will face a suspension from school and a Superintendent's hearing. Law enforcement authorities may likewise be involved. The penalty may include exclusion from school for one year.

Please note that mace, pepper spray, and other noxious sprays are classified as weapons in the District Code of Conduct.

Should a student be aware of anyone who is concealing a weapon, he/she is asked to inform a staff member immediately, with the assurance that all information will be kept confidential.

INAPPROPRIATE CLOTHING

In accordance with Project SAVE legislation, all school districts were required to adopt a Code of Conduct (see Appendix) to improve school safety and to promote an effective learning environment in the schools.

Included in the Code are general provisions regarding appropriate dress in school and at school events. Clothing should be safe, appropriate, and not disrupt or interfere with the educational process. Tops should cover the midriff (front and back) and bottoms should fully cover the upper thigh and buttock areas. Clothing which promotes or endorses the use of alcohol, tobacco, or illegal drugs, or which encourages illegal or violent activities is not allowed. Similarly, clothing which includes items that are vulgar, obscene, libelous, or that denigrate others in any manner is also not allowed. All underwear is to be completely covered with outer clothing, and footwear is required at all times. Students may wear hats in common areas. Wearing hats in the classroom is at teacher discretion. Failure to comply with a teacher's request will be considered insubordination.

Students who come to school wearing inappropriate apparel will be required to cover or change the offending garment and given a verbal warning. Repeated incidents will be addressed with parents/guardians and may result in disciplinary consequences.

VANDALISM/DEFACING SCHOOL PROPERTY

Students or other persons who knowingly damage the school building, on—campus vehicles, or the school grounds are subject to penalties, which range from financial restitution to suspension from school. Such actions on the part of non—students will result in criminal prosecution. Damage from reckless behavior (e.g. - a broken window) will likewise result in the student or students being held financially responsible for the repairs, to the limit set by Education Law. Any accidental damage to school property should be reported to the main office immediately.

ELECTRONIC DEVICES

Personal electronic devices may be used in common areas. Use in the classroom is at the discretion of the classroom teacher. Students must abide by the direction of the teacher. Failure to do so will constitute insubordination. Teachers may confiscate devices if students fail to comply with the teacher's request.

FIRE DRILLS

Fire drills are announced by the sounding of the fire alarm bells. These drills are conducted at various times during the year to acquaint pupils with the correct procedures to follow in case of fire. The prescribed fire drill route for each room is posted near the door of the room. Students should be aware of the proper route for each class. During a fire drill, students are expected to remain with their class during the exit and return to the building. Students should remain silent. Talking during a fire drill makes emergency instructions on the PA system impossible to hear and follow. Move quickly along the drill route and away from the building, far enough to be safe in the event of a true emergency. No one should block fire lanes; they may be needed by fire equipment. Unauthorized use of fire safety equipment or the fire alarm system is a very serious offense. Unauthorized use of the fire alarm system by a student will result in a five-day suspension from school and a hearing with the Superintendent of Schools. Law enforcement authorities may be likewise involved.

THEFT

Stealing District property or the property of other students, school personnel, or any other person lawfully on school property or while attending a school function is unacceptable and will not be tolerated. Students engaging in this behavior will receive consequences ranging from detention to suspension. Additionally, parents will be notified of the infraction as well as law enforcement, if deemed necessary. Students may also be required to pay restitution.

VISITORS

All visitors are required to sign in at the main office and obtain a visitor's pass. Please do not plan to invite other students to visit this school without making arrangements in the main office at least one day in advance. Such a request, however, will not be granted if it is judged to be frivolous in its purpose and potentially disruptive to the school situation. Students from neighboring school districts with a day off when we are in session will not be allowed to visit Westhill.

GAMBLING

Gambling is prohibited on school grounds. This includes dice games and card games associated with the exchange of money or goods.

BUS RULES

The afternoon bus dismissal is at 2:16 PM for all students. Following the end of 11th period, students wishing to ride a bus home should go directly to the front bus loop, as buses will leave promptly. Bus rules are posted in each bus; they should be read and obeyed. If parents want a student to ride home at night on a bus different from the one that brought him/her to school, the student must bring a written request to the main office. If the request seems in order, a special bus pass will be issued, good for one day only.

Bus drills are conducted each year so that all students will be familiar with the location and operation of emergency equipment on the buses. Listen to directions carefully so that you will know what to do in case of an emergency.

TRANSPORTATION FOR SCHOOL ACTIVITIES

Our policy requires that <u>all</u> transportation of students to school-sponsored activities away from school must be by school-owned vehicles or by adult-operated cars and approved by the Principal. If a student is competing in an away contest and wishes to ride home with another student's parent, a note must be written by the first student's parent, presented to the Principal or Assistant Principal for approval, and then presented to the coach. (A student does not have to have a note to ride home with their own parent. However, it is expected that the student will inform the coach of the ride arrangement.) The school will not, and cannot, approve a student request to drive him/herself to such activities.

DEFIBRILLATORS

The high school has three Automatic External Defibrillators (AED) installed and accessible in case of an emergency. One is located outside the Bookstore on the second floor, a second is on the wall near the door to the Athletic Director's Office, and the third is outside the gymnasium. A defibrillator is only to be used by a person who has had appropriate training, to include several high school staff members as well as coaches. Obviously, and as is the case with Fire Alarm equipment, defibrillators are not to be tampered with. Rather, it is imperative that they be kept in perfect working condition in order to perhaps someday save someone's life.

PROM/BALL DANCE RULES

Students are not admitted to the building before the announced starting time nor later than one hour after the dance has begun. Dances terminate promptly and no later than 11:00 PM. Please do not plan to leave the building during a dance. Students leaving before a dance concludes will not be readmitted.

The Prom/Ball are ordinarily restricted to Westhill High School students unless special permission has been obtained from the main office and a Westhill student has obtained a guest pass. For the past several years, the Ball has been a senior-only event with no outside guests permitted. Such will be the case this year. The Westhill student is responsible for the conduct of their guest. Middle School students are not invited to high school dances. Additionally, guests over the age of 20 on the day of the event are not permitted at high school dances.

Adult chaperones will monitor students upon their entry to a dance. Students will be required to sign in; tickets should be sold on a pre-sale basis only, if appropriate. No book bags, backpacks, etc. should be brought into school during a dance.

It is the understanding that all attire worn to a school dance is to be "in good taste". Guidelines for such dress will continue to be communicated to students and parents. Any questions should be directed to an administrator prior to the night of the event.

Dancing that is explicitly suggestive or provocative will not be allowed. A student who is dancing inappropriately will be warned and told to stop. Should the behavior then continue, the student would be required to leave the dance following the notification of a parent.

The District Drug and Alcohol Policy (see below) is in effect for all school events, including school dances. Its terms and consequences apply to all students, regardless of quantity of substance used or possessed. An alco-sensor device and a police officer will generally be present at all school dances. The alco-sensor will be administered to any student who exhibits behavior, which creates suspicion of alcohol use. Refusal to take an alco-sensor test may, in any case, result in a determination of guilt. A parent will be contacted in all cases.

DRUG AND ALCOHOL POLICY

The Board of Education of the Westhill Central School District acknowledges the need for the entire school community to provide an educational environment that is healthy and safe for its young people. To do so requires the prohibition and elimination of drug use and abuse by our students, to be facilitated by an increased awareness for parents, educators and students alike of the physical, social, emotional, intellectual, and legal consequences of such actions.

Prevention and Awareness

The following are among the components of our prevention program, the purpose of which is to have our young people refuse to begin the use/abuse of drugs:

- 1. A K-12 curriculum which provides accurate and age-appropriate information to students about drugs, including alcohol and tobacco; also, skills and techniques are discussed and developed which will enable them to make good decisions and thus refuse to participate in the use/abuse of these substances.
- 2. Both within and outside of the curriculum described above, efforts will be made to develop and promote positive student self-esteem, which is recognized as critical for resistance to negative peer pressure and the temptation to use drugs and alcohol.
- 3. The district promotes and encourages communication with parents, community agencies and legal authorities in an effort to maintain a consistent message to our young people, both in and out of school. In addition, school programs in which the consequences of substance abuse and the promotion of positive self-esteem are discussed, and substance-free alternative activities are to be encouraged. Parent involvement in such activities, to whatever extent it is practical, is beneficial and desired.

Disciplinary Measures

If students should become involved in the use of, be under the influence of, possess, or distribute drugs or alcohol on school premises or at school events, the following procedures shall result. Such use is defined as the consumption, possession, or distribution of drugs or drug paraphernalia.

- 1. Information received by school officials concerning the use of drugs or alcohol by students in school or at school–supervised activities will be communicated to parents.
- 2. Students determined to be involved in drug or alcohol use and/or distribution on school premises or at school events will be suspended immediately for five (5) school days, such suspension being in accordance with Section 3214 of the New York State Education Law.

When appropriate, the matter will be referred to the legal authorities. In all cases the following requirements must be met as a prerequisite for readmission:

- a. a parent/student conference with the Superintendent of Schools, which may take the form of a Superintendent's Hearing.
- b. evidence that a satisfactory program of action has been developed to prevent recurrence of the problem, and periodic reviews will take place.
- c. other conditions for reinstatement may be established by the Building Principal or Superintendent of Schools if deemed necessary to secure the health, safety or welfare of the student or of others.
- d. if the above requirements are not immediately met, the Superintendent may call for a formal hearing according to law.
- 3. If the student is involved in drug or alcohol use or distribution on a second occasion during the same school year, the Superintendent will conduct a formal hearing.
 - a. If the student is 16 years of age or older, the suspension will be for a minimum of twenty (20) school days.
 - b. If the student is under 16 years of age, the suspension will be for a minimum of twenty (20) school days and home tutoring will be provided.

4. If the infractions occur over a period of more than one school year, the student will be suspended for a minimum of five (5) days and a Superintendent's hearing will be held, at which time a determination of any further consequence will be made.

INTERNET USE GUIDELINES

- 1. Students are to use the Internet for educational purposes only. Internet use is a privilege, not a right. Student misuse of the Internet is a form of insubordination resulting in discipline procedures currently outlined in Westhill Board of Education Policy on student conduct.
- 2. Students are encouraged to evaluate the information obtained through the Internet with regard to accuracy and quality. Students are to document all Internet sources when used for research.
- 3. Students are to adhere to proper use of any copyrighted material in accordance with the guidelines for fair educational use.
- 4. During class time, students must have permission from the classroom teacher in order to access the Internet.
- 5. Students are not to access sites that are questionable in nature (i.e. pornographic, threatening, gratuitously violent, and/or obscene). While the district does provide filtering software, the district cannot guarantee that all potentially objectionable sites are restricted.
- 6. Students are to report accidental entry into an unacceptable site immediately to the teacher, librarian, or staff member on duty.
- 7. Students are not to access non-school/personal Internet accounts from school for e-mail purposes or other purposes unless a teacher has set up an e-mail situation as part of the curriculum.
- 8. Students are not allowed to access chat rooms unless a teacher has set up a chat room situation as part of the curriculum.
- 9. Students are not to share their own or others' confidential information including last name, address, and/or telephone number.
- 10. Students are not to download software to any computer's hard drive.
- 11. Students are not to play games on the Internet.
- 12. Students are responsible for the appropriate use of the computer. Vandalism is a serious offense and includes damage to computer equipment, software or files.
- 13. The school district and its employees are released from the liability associated with inappropriate use, copyright violations, or inaccuracy of information found on the school computer system.
- 14. Students may not use the Internet in school for any of the following activities:
 - Commercial activities, including solicitation
 - Revealing material protected by trade secret
 - Political or special interest lobbying
 - Proselytization (converting others to your beliefs)



Mrs. Weinsztok's biology classes went to the stream to gather water samples for testing.

FAMILY EDUCATIONAL RIGHTS AND PRIVACY ACT (FERPA)

The Family Educational Rights and Privacy Act (FERPA) (20 U.S.C. § 1232g; 34 CFR Part 99) is a Federal law that protects the privacy of student education records. The law applies to all schools that receive funds under an applicable program of the U.S. Department of Education.

FERPA gives parents certain rights with respect to their children's education records. These rights transfer to the student when he or she reaches the age of 18 or attends a school beyond the high school level. Students to whom the rights have transferred are "eligible students."

- Parents or eligible students have the right to inspect and review the student's education records maintained by the school. Schools are not required to provide copies of records unless, for reasons such as great distance, it is impossible for parents or eligible students to review the records. Schools may charge a fee for copies.
- Parents or eligible students have the right to request that the school corrects records, which they believe to be inaccurate or misleading. If the school decides not to amend the record, the parent or eligible student then has the right to a formal hearing. After the hearing, if the school still decides not to amend the record, the parent or eligible student has the right to place a statement with the record setting forth his or her view about the contested information.
- Generally, schools must have written permission from the parent or eligible student in order to release any information from a student's education record. However, FERPA allows schools to disclose those records, without consent, to the following parties or under the following conditions (34 CFR § 99.31):
 - ⇒ School officials with legitimate educational interest;
 - ⇒ Other schools to which a student is transferring;
 - ⇒ Specified officials for audit or evaluation purposes;
 - ⇒ Appropriate parties in connection with financial aid to a student;
 - ⇒ Organizations conducting certain studies for or on behalf of the school;
 - ⇒ Accrediting organizations;
 - ⇒ To comply with a judicial order or lawfully issued subpoena;
 - ⇒ Appropriate officials in cases of health and safety emergencies; and
 - ⇒ State and local authorities, within a juvenile justice system;
 - ⇒ Pursuant to specific State law.

Schools may disclose, without consent, "directory" information such as a student's name, address, telephone number, date and place of birth, honors and awards, and dates of attendance. However, schools must tell parents and eligible students about directory information and allow parents and eligible students a reasonable amount of time to request that the school not disclose directory information about them. Schools must notify parents and eligible students annually of their rights under FERPA. The actual means of notification (special letter, inclusion in a bulletin, student handbook, or newspaper article) is left to the discretion of each school.

SECTION FOUR

THE SCHOOL BUILDING AND FACILITIES

THE COUNSELING CENTER

The Counseling Center is organized to serve all students. The counselors hope that every student will want to become acquainted with the resources that are available in the Counseling Center. Our goals are the same as that of our school as a whole - to help each of you reach your maximum growth, learn to get along with others, and become increasingly independent and responsible.

What You Can Find in the Counseling Center

- A. Place for purposeful browsing
 - Macintosh computers with Internet access, as well as other software, to help in your search for a college or a career;
 - catalogs from colleges, community colleges, nursing schools, agriculture and technical schools, business schools, other vocationally-oriented schools, and guides and manuals which describe a wide range of educational opportunities;
 - vocational information describing many jobs, their requirements, advantages, and disadvantages;
 - information on the many scholarships available.
- B. Counselors who want to assist you, and can help you:
 - make your educational plans for high school, your major area of study, your choice of electives, and your post-graduation plans;
 - select and get involved in extra-curricular activities;
 - develop career ideas so that you will have some direction when you graduate;
 - learn more about educational opportunities after graduation; you must plan well in advance in order that you select the institutions that best meet your needs, select the right courses in high school, and meet the academic standards of the institutions;
 - learn about the college admission process and financial aid;
 - deal with personal problems that everyone seems to have at one time or another in high school.

C. Special Services:

- Our secretaries have the application for working papers.
- The Counseling Center occasionally has knowledge of full and part-time jobs, and we are anxious to share this information with you.
- Check the hallway outside of the Counseling Center for more information.
- Applications for College Entrance Examination Board and ACT tests, as well as scholarship information forms, are available in the Counseling Center.
- Each student is assigned to a particular counselor, but if you feel the need to talk with another counselor, this is permissible. The Counseling Center is yours. Make use of its facilities during your years at Westhill High School.

<u>COUNSELOR ASSIGNMENTS</u> <u>2022 – 2023</u>

Students keep the same counselors year to year, with counselors rotating grades

Mrs. Fifield	Grade 9 Grade 10 Grade 11 Grade 12	A-G A-G A-J A-De
Ms. Bitner	Grade 9 Grade 10 Grade 11 Grade 12	H-R H-P K-Q Di-M
Mr. Pridmore	Grade 9 Grade 10 Grade 11 Grade 12	S-Z Q-Z R-Z N-Z

Please see the Counseling Center Webpage, www.westhillschools.org for more information.

CAFETERIA

Compiling menus based on good nutrition and variety is the responsibility of our school's cafeteria manager. You, as a student, have the following responsibilities in the cafeteria:

- 1. Keep tables and chairs clean. Neatness is especially important.
- 2. Avoid unruly behavior. Loud talking and running around have no place in the cafeteria.
- 3. Use good table manners.
- 4. Take your place at the end of the line when entering the cafeteria. "Cutting in" on the line is not allowed.
- 5. Dispose of debris in waste cans when you are finished eating.
- 6. Eat your lunch in the cafeteria. Do not take food to any other part of the building, although on days of good weather you may eat outside in front of the school. (Trash goes in the receptacles provided.) The privilege of eating lunch in the cafeteria will be denied to those who misuse the facility.

Students are required to stay in the cafeteria during their lunch period. Students are permitted outside, in front of the cafeteria, as weather permits.

Snacks are available during periods 1 through 4 in the cafeteria. However, students may not be late to class as a result of stopping to buy food; as with any situation involving tardiness, the consequence of such may include assignment to a teacher's detention during IA. Students may not be dismissed from study hall, with or without a pass, to come to the cafeteria for a snack.

ELEVATOR

An elevator is located at the north end of the academic wing. Its primary purpose is to provide students on crutches or in a wheelchair to gain access to the second and third floors. Students who need to use the elevator will be assigned a key by the School Nurse, and will be allowed to have one student accompany him/her on the elevator to assist with books. The key <u>must</u> be returned to the Health Office at the end of the day, unless specific arrangements have been made with the nurse. A \$10.00 charge will be assessed for a lost elevator key.

LAVATORIES

Students may use school lavatories either during passing time or at other times with a pass from a teacher. Loitering and socializing are not appropriate. Smoking is prohibited, as is any action, which enables another student to smoke. The bathrooms on the first floor are available for your use during lunch periods. Remember that study hall teachers may not issue passes to the lavatory except in cases of absolute necessity.

LOCKERS

Each student is assigned a hall locker by the homeroom teacher. These lockers are used for the storage of coats, hats, books, etc., and the student has the responsibility of keeping the locker clean and neat. It should be understood, however, that lockers remain the property of the school and as such are subject to inspection by school officials.

There is a potential for loss of students' property. You are responsible for your own books, etc. and should keep your locker locked at all times. Do not disclose your combination to anyone or share your locker with anyone. Disclosing or sharing your combination with others or intentionally defeating the locking mechanism to provide easier access to your locker places your personal property at risk of being stolen. You are strongly cautioned against this behavior.

DRIVING TO SCHOOL/PARKING LOTS

Driving to school is a privilege, which is extended to **Westhill juniors and seniors**. Parking is limited to the Grand Ave. parking lot in the spots highlighted with yellow stripes, the Onondaga Blvd. lot in those spaces facing the road, and in the east lot in those spaces facing the playing fields. Students are not allowed to drive their cars unless their parents have sent a written request to the main office for approval. Forms are available in the main office. Any student who does receive approval for driving to school must purchase a \$4.00 numbered sticker. This is to be placed on the driver's side rear door window. Students may receive permission to drive a motorcycle to school and park in a specially designated area. Student cars should be registered as soon as possible. Students in ninth, and tenth grades, and those who are not registered to park are not to drive to school; after one warning, the penalty for driving to school without permission will be an assignment to one late detention.

Cars may be used only while driving to and from school. Once you arrive at school, you may not hang around in the parking lot; similarly, at no time during the day may any student sit in a car parked in the parking lot. If you are observed coming in from the parking lot, or going out to the parking lot, during the school day and without permission, it will be a fair assumption that you left or were attempting to leave school illegally, and appropriate penalties will be imposed. The parking lot is generally off limits, except for arriving at and leaving school, unless further permission has been granted in the main office.

Those who drive cars or motorcycles to school must use extreme caution while on the school grounds or near the school. Evidence of any reckless driving will be reported to the authorities. Parking of student cars on private property is in violation of school policies.

LOST AND FOUND

Articles found should be brought to the main office, where they will be stored until claimed. Students should avoid bringing valuables and large amounts of money to school. All personal property is the sole responsibility of the student.

OUTSIDE PRIVILEGES

Students are allowed to be outside the building on the Onondaga Blvd. side (between the building and the driveway - not out in the parking lot) during days of favorable weather for lunches. All other outside areas of the campus are off-limits during school hours. It is requested that the outside noise level not be a distraction or disturbance to the classrooms adjacent to the area.

TEXTBOOKS

The Westhill Central School District furnishes your basic textbooks. They represent an investment of thousands of dollars. You have been assigned a hall locker to secure textbooks. You are responsible for loss or damage to the textbooks assigned to you. Keep them clean and handle them carefully. Make sure your name and teacher are written in the books in case they are misplaced.

While you are in your Gym class, make sure you lock up all of your belongings - don't leave them on the bench in the locker room. Locks for your gym locker will be supplied by the school

IF YOU WANT:

Your locker number or combination A pass for dismissal during school

Club meeting room Working papers

College and testing information

Visitor's pass

Assignments during a long illness, call

BOCES information

To submit an excuse for an absence

Musical instrument rental Guest pass to Prom or Ball

A morning snack Yearbook information To schedule an activity

To discuss a private situation

THEN GO TO:

Counseling Office Health Office

Advisor

Counseling Office Counseling Office Main Office Counseling Office

Mrs. Fifield

HR or Health Office Room 57 (Band Rm)

Main Office Cafeteria Mrs. Casper Mr. Dolan

Counseling Office, Health Office, Main Office



Students in the newly formed DECA (formerly FBLA) Club competed in the NYS Competition in Rochester, NY. Many of our members received medals.

SECTION FIVE

STUDENT ACTIVITIES AND SCHOOL SPIRIT

TRADITIONS AT WESTHILL

A number of student activities have become traditions since the opening of Westhill in 1961.

Bonfire and Pep Rally

This year the Bonfire, which is sponsored by Student Council and recognizes the fall sports teams, will be held preceding the football game on October 7.

Academic Awards Ceremony

At this evening program, scheduled to take place in the Spring, most of our academic awards will be presented.

CLUBS AND ACTIVITIES

Student Council

The purpose of Student Council is to develop a school government with a positive and supportive school spirit. As a service organization, it is our goal to assist the school and organizations within it in fundraising and other activities. Activities will include the Bonfire and more!

ADVISORS: Mr. Maimone

OFFICERS: President – Devon Young

Vice President – Lee Hynes Secretary – Gisele Abdelfatah Treasurer – Bradyn Taber

Senior Class (2023)

The main objective of Senior activities this year is to raise needed money for the Senior Ball and the Senior Breakfast. Among the fundraisers will be the sale of refreshments during basketball season and the annual Talent Show.

ADVISOR: Mrs. Fritz

OFFICERS: President – Bodie Centore

Vice President – Andrew Sondej Secretary – Emmet Starowicz Treasurer – Aidan Ryan

Junior Class (2024)

Planning and committee work will continue all year in anticipation of the Junior Prom.

ADVISOR: Ms. Rodgers

OFFICERS: President – Caitlyn Knohl

Vice President – Cade Caloia Secretary – Kathleen Rogers Treasurer – Andrew O'Reilly

Sophomore Class (2025)

The goal of the Sophomore Class is to plan activities that will make Junior Prom and Senior Ball affordable.

ADVISOR: Mr. Kiggins

OFFICERS: President – Oluwafeyisike Ajagbe

Vice President – Molly Dorfman Secretary – Avery Starowicz Treasurer – Grace Bergett

Freshman Class (2026)

The goals of the Freshman Class will be to begin fundraising for the Junior Prom and Senior Ball and to create class spirit with a magazine sale, and to promote responsibility with a class service project.

ADVISOR: Mrs. Galey

OFFICERS: President – Ben Czaplicki

Vice President – Grace Buckley Secretary – Trinity Speer Treasurer – Eric Holstein

Art Club

Designed to encourage an interest in Art and give students related social and cultural experiences.

Special activities may include any of the following: a N.Y.C. trip, visits to various area museums, drawing excursions, etc. Money is raised by selling art items made by the club.

ADVISOR: Mr. Allen
MEETING PLACE: Room 50
MEETING TIME: I.A. Tuesdays

Future Teacher's Club

The Future Teacher's Club participates in activities that include shadowing in the classrooms at the high school and elementary levels. This club organized the Holiday party where community members and children participate in games and many fun activities organized by the group.

ADVISOR: Ms. Evanchof MEETING PLACE: Room 300

Drama Club/Masquers Club

Learn to act on stage and/or produce theatre; add drama to your life in the best possible ways. Participate in fall drama production and spring musical.

ADVISOR: Joe Buchmann (spring musical)

Joe Buchmann (fall drama)

MEETING PLACE: Auditorium

ECOS (Environmentally Conscious Organized Students)

This group works to encourage many types of recycling, helps to maintain the high school courtyard, and works with other clubs on environment—oriented service projects.

ADVISOR: Mrs. Kemper MEETING PLACE: Room 310

Electrathon Club

Members of this club will build and design an electric-powered racecar using engineering operations (mechanical and electrical).

ADVISORS: Mr. Sweeney
MEETING PLACE: Technology Rooms

French Club

French Club encourages interest in French culture and in speaking French. Club activities will include game days, conversation groups, film days, peer tutoring, French Contest preparation, and Christmas celebrations.

ADVISOR: Ms. Amerault MEETING PLACE: Room 307

Future Business Leaders of America/DECA

FBLA/DECA provides an opportunity for business education students to develop leadership and business skills in a social setting. The club also is concerned with developing civic and personal responsibility.

Special activities include: the provision of gifts and food for needy Westhill families, sponsorship of special—event speakers, attendance for eligible members at district and state competitions held each spring, various fundraising activities, and possible field trips.

ADVISORS: Mrs. Casper and Mrs. Ryan

MEETING PLACE: Room 4

Character Education

Character Education plans activities both in and out of school to promote spirit, service, and a positive lifestyle. The organization also encourages substance-free activities and choices. Some members attend a weekend conference known as Teen Institute to further develop leadership skills and substance-free living. Volunteer work through the Rescue Mission, We Rise Above the Streets, Ronald McDonald House and the Toys for Tots program have been other activities of the group. Character Ed sponsors the annual Penny War, which raises money for charity. Students from all grade levels are invited to participate.

ADVISORS: Mrs. Weinsztok MEETING PLACE: Room 310

Literary Magazine

The goals of the "lit mag" staff are: to stimulate student expression through creative writing, to work together toward a common goal, to share similar interests, to establish confidence, to learn the basics of printing, art and literary editing, and to produce a superior quality magazine.

ADVISORS: Ms. Donegan and Mrs. Casper

MEETING PLACE: Room 102
MEETING TIME: IA Wednesdays

Math Team

To promote Mathematics through competition with other students at a local, state, and national level. Teams compete with other schools in the Onondaga County Math League with four area meets and an All–County meet. There are six contests as part of the New York Math League and the American High School Math Exam is given in March.

ADVISORS: Ms. Hatt and Mrs. Gorman

MEETING PLACE: Room 313

Mock Trial Team

Participate in area competitions, debating various points of view.

ADVISOR: TBD
MEETING PLACE: Room 218

National Honor Society

A faculty committee selects members from the Junior and Senior classes. A cumulative **academic** average of 88.0% or higher is required. Service, character, and leadership are also factors that are considered. For a further description, see Section Two of this Handbook. Activities include a fall and spring induction, sponsoring an Indian foster child, peer tutoring here at Westhill High School, and various community service projects.

ADVISOR: Ms. Bitner MEETING PLACE: Auditorium

Pep Band

Perform in an instrumental group at Westhill home football games, the WHS bonfire, and other special occasions.

ADVISOR: Ms. Tapia MEETING PLACE: Room 57

Shakespeare Recitation Competition

Sponsored by the English-Speaking Union, this is an international, multi-level competition. It is held in December, with the school winner advancing to the area competition in March at Syracuse University. A soliloquy of at least twenty lines is performed from memory. The area competition requires the recitation of a sonnet in addition to the monologue.

ADVISOR: Mrs. Murphy MEETING PLACE: Room 101

Pride Club

The WHS Pride Club offers LGBTQ+ students and allies a safe space to talk, share community resources, as well as educate and raise awareness about LGBTQ issues within the Westhill school community.

ADVISOR: Mrs. Bower MEETING PLACE: Room 211

INTERSCHOLASTIC ATHLETICS

Students are encouraged to consider joining a Westhill athletic team and, in fact, most do so at some point in their high school careers. Numerous sports are available in each of the three sports seasons. If interested please see Ms. Smarrelli or the appropriate coach. Sign—ups will take place at the beginning of each season on FamilyID.com.

<u>Fall</u>		Sport	<u>Coach</u>
Football:	Varsity		Adam Griffo
		Asst. Varsity	Jack Hayes
		Asst. Varsity	Joe Fiacchi
		Jr. Varsity	Ahmaad Graham
		Head Modified	Rocky Garofalo
		Asst. Modified	Robert Bach
Cross-Country:		Boys'	Chris Stogsdill
,		Girls'	Dan Reid
Soccer:		Boys' Varsity	Tom Etoll
		Boys' J.V.	Jake Etoll
		Girls' Varsity	Patrick Connors
		Girls' J.V.	Kelly Ristoff
Tennis:		Girls'	Doug Annable
Volleyball:		Varsity	Karla Prince
voncyban.		J.V.	Karl Caputo
		Boys' Varsity	Rebecca Fesinger
		Boys' J.V.	Anthony Zaia
Golf:		Boys'	Jason Clavijo
Goil.		Doys	Jason Clavijo
Winter		Sport	<u>Coach</u>
Basketball:		Boys' Varsity	Kevin King
		Boys' J.V.	Jon Connelly
		Girls' Varsity	Zach Kiggins
		Girls' J.V.	Rick Vogt III
Hockey:		Varsity	Neal Purcell
Indoor Track:		Varsity (Girls')	Dan Reid
		Varsity (Boys')	Chris Stogsdill
		Assistant	Robert Bach
Spring		Sport	Coach
Baseball:		Boys' Varsity	Ted Klamm
		J.V.	Dan Karleski
Softball:		Girls' Varsity	Christina Quijano
		J.V.	Kathleen Clark
Track:		Boys' Varsity	Chris Stogsdill
		Asst. Varsity	Adam Collister
		Girls' Varsity	Dan Reid
		Asst. Varsity	Robert Bach
Tennis:		Boys'	Doug Annable
Golf:		Girls'	Jason Clavijo
Lacrosse:		Boys' Varsity	Mike Leuze
Lacrossc.		Asst. Varsity	Rocky Garofalo
		Boys' J.V.	Tim Garback
		Asst. J.V.	Tim Alberts
		Girls' Varsity	Bob Elmer
		Asst. Varsity	Lloyd Hamilton
		Girls' J.V.	Gretchen Kryzkowski
		Asst. J.V.	Kevin Hennigan
		, 53t. j. v.	Keviii Heilingan



ALMA MATER

Among the tall and verdant hills all "valed"
in majesty of colors white and blue
so true we pledge our loyalty.
Where guiding hands of knowledge lead with tender care,
treasured friendship, love and memories, always we will share.
Our Warrior pride will guide our ways, O fair Westhill.

Composers: Nick Godzak, Gina Fortunato, Cody Chester Edited by: Tonette Orlando

School Colors – Royal Blue and White Nickname - "Warriors"

APPENDIX

STUDENT EXTRACURRICULAR CODE OF CONDUCT

The establishment of this code is an outgrowth and reflection of the school district's concern for the safety, well-being, and conduct of all students including those participating in athletics and other extracurricular activities. The rules and regulations that are contained in the code are developed with the students' best interests.

The creation of such rules and regulations necessitates the need for the responsibility for enforcement. Adherence to the Student Extracurricular Code requires the cooperation and support of the family, the student, and the school district. Together we can work toward mutual goals of healthy sportsmanship, keen competition, and the personal and physical development of our students. Additionally, we can work together in preventing and reducing the risks of possible penalties that occur if the provisions of the code were not followed. Please read the code and discuss its contents with your son/daughter. Should you have any questions, please feel free to contact any coach, club advisor, the athletic director, or a school administrator.

Philosophy and Expectations for students participating in athletics and other extracurricular activities

Interscholastic athletics and other extracurricular activities are an integral part of the educational experience. They serve as a uniting force for the student body, the faculty, and the entire community. Interscholastic athletic activities and extracurricular activities provide realistic opportunities to promote the physical, mental, moral, social, and emotional well-being of all the students at Westhill.

It is a privilege for a student to represent his or her school through participation in interscholastic teams and extracurricular activities. With this privilege comes responsibilities that include the following expectations: adherence to all rules of the sport/club and to the school's code of conduct; cooperation and sportsmanship among all individuals involved; respect for officials and authority; an obligation to give one's best effort in the pursuit of individual, team and club goals.

Students participating in extracurricular activities represent the school in a special and unique way. Students must maintain a high standard of conduct, both in and out of school, on or off the playing field, as a host or guest, and in all activities in the community.

Because the use of alcohol and other drugs prevents the normal development of a healthy mind and body, the "Student Extracurricular Code of Conduct" has been established for those participating in Westhill athletics and other extracurricular activities. The use, possession, consumption, or distribution of alcohol, illegal drugs or the unauthorized use of prescription or nonprescription drugs is strictly prohibited on and off school grounds. This Code of Conduct will be instituted over the entire school year. A school year is defined as the start of the fall sport season (including practices in the summer) through the last day of the school year.

ACADEMIC ELIGIBILITY POLICY

The faculty and administration of Westhill Central Schools are committed to providing every one of our students with the finest academic opportunities possible. Academic achievement is, indeed, our primary goal as an institution, and should be the primary goal of all students.

It cannot be forgotten, however, that participation in interscholastic and extracurricular activities is also an integral part of becoming a well-rounded young adult. To that end, academics and extracurricular activities work hand-in-hand as each of our students strives for excellence in their own personal way.

The following policy is set forth in order to serve as the determinant as to whether or not each student has demonstrated sufficient academic achievement to be considered eligible to participate in interscholastic or extracurricular activities

1. A student who is failing two or more courses at the end of the first, second, or third ten-week marking period (as indicated by a grade of less than 70%) will be ineligible to participate in interscholastic or co-curricular activities for the next five weeks. In such a case, a student and parent may request entry into the "two week protocol" to continue participation in interscholastic and co-curricular activities and attempt to raise grades to passing. If, at the end of the protocol the student is still failing two or more subjects (any subjects), or, at any time the conditions of the protocol are

not met, the student will be ineligible to participate for the remainder of the eligibility period. The five week eligibility reviews will occur on October 12, December 21, March 15, and May 24.

- 2. The "two week protocol" is a signed agreement which allows the student to continue participation in interscholastic or co-curricular activities for an additional two weeks as long as the following criteria are met each week for each class the student is failing. Parents, students, and administration all sign the agreement.
 - a. The student must attend all classes and arrive on time.
 - b. The student must be actively engaged in all learning activities.
 - c. The student must complete and hand in all assignments including homework.
 - d. The student must attend at least one Instructional Assistance period with the teacher of the class.
 - e. The student must have each teacher sign off that the above criteria were met.

At the end of the protocol, if a student is still failing two or more subjects (any subjects), they are ineligible for the remainder of the 5 week period.

- **3.** At the end of the semester, final averages for semester courses only will be used in conjunction with second quarter averages (for yearlong courses) to determine eligibility for the 3rd quarter.
- **4.** For the fourth quarter only, final averages will be used instead of quarter grades to determine eligibility for the next school year. Summer school grades may be substituted for such averages in order to improve a student's eligibility status. The same eligibility standards as outlined above will be applied to final averages and/or summer school grades.
- **5.** Students may not drop courses they are failing to escape becoming ineligible. Grades of drop/fail and incompletes, which are assigned due to lack of academic effort, count as failures. When such incompletes are changed to passing grades, a student's status will be re-evaluated.
- **6.** Ineligible students may not attend rehearsals or practices, nor are they to sit on the bench during athletic contests.
- 7. The activities to which this policy pertains are interscholastic and co-curricular activities which meet or occur outside of the instructional day (7:30 a.m. 2:10 p.m.).
- **8.** A student's ineligibility period will begin the day report cards are posted. For the 2022-2023 academic year, eligibility periods will begin on November 16, February 1, April 26, and June 28.
- **9.** Academic eligibility will not be based on disciplinary considerations. Such cases will be evaluated on an individual basis by the school administration.

PROCEDURES

- **1.** A list of all participants in each interscholastic or extracurricular activity should be submitted to the Assistant Principal by the Athletic Director or activity advisor within one week after such a roster may be determined.
- 2. In return, the Athletic Director or advisor will receive from the Assistant Principal at the end of each five-week period a list of students who are ineligible. It will be the primary responsibility of the coach or advisor to notify any such student of their status, and provide an explanation of the implications of such status.

EXTRACURRICULAR ACTIVITIES

Extracurricular activities are activities that are organized by the school to engage students beyond the parameters of the classroom for which participation is voluntary. Examples of such activities include, drama and musical productions, all athletic-associated events, regional or state competitions attached to clubs, and overnight trips. Not considered extracurricular are those activities that are part of a course curriculum for which course credit is awarded. Such activities include participation in band and chorus concerts and class field trips.

INTERSCHOLASTIC ATHLETICS

The athletic program at Westhill is conducted under the following principles as set forth by the University of the State of New York:

- 1. To emphasize the proper ideals of sportsmanship, ethical conduct, and fair play.
- 2. To stress values derived from playing the game fairly.
- 3. To show cordial courtesy to visiting teams and officials.
- 4. To respect the integrity and judgment of sports officials.
- 5. To encourage leadership, use of initiative, and good judgment by the players of the team.
- 6. To recognize that the purpose of athletics is to promote the physical, mental, moral, social, and emotional well being of the individual players.
- 7. To ensure that coaches' conduct reflects integrity and fair play.

ATHLETIC ELIGIBILITY (as determined by the NYSPHSAA)

- 1. Registration An athlete is eligible for interschool competition only when he or she is a bona fide student enrolled during the first fifteen school days of a semester and registered in a complete schedule of courses as governed by school policy.
- 2. <u>Duration of Competition</u> A student is eligible for competition during any eight semesters after his or her entry into the ninth grade and prior to graduation. A student shall be eligible for interschool competition in grades 9, 10, 11, and 12 until their nineteenth birthday. If the age of nineteen years is reached on or after July 1, the student may continue to participate during that school year in all sports. A student who attains the age of fifteen years while enrolled in a grade below the ninth grade may take part in inter-high school sports, provided he or she meets all other requirements. Younger students may qualify under the New York State Selection Classification program.
- 3. <u>Physical Examinations</u> Before a student may participate in the interscholastic athletic program, he/she must have completed the following:
 - A physical examination by the appointed school physician and/or the student's personal physician. Medical
 examinations may be scheduled at any time during the school year and shall be valid for a period of twelve
 continuous months.
 - A health update questionnaire completed within 30 days of the start of the sport season. All paperwork pertaining to the student's physical examination must be turned in to the school nurse for verification and approval prior to any athletic participation.
- 4. <u>Consent & Emergency Notification Forms</u> In addition to completing the Statement acknowledging receipt of this code, all athletes participating on an interscholastic athletic team will be required to complete a parental consent form and a medical emergency notification card. Completed consent and emergency notification forms are to be returned to the individual sport coach.

EXPECTATIONS FOR ATHLETIC PARTICIPATION

- 1. <u>Attendance/Routine Practice</u> Regular attendance at practice is mandatory. If an athlete misses more than two practices without permission, he or she shall be suspended from the team for the amount of time to be determined by the coach.
- 2. General Attendance A student is expected to attend all classes on his or her schedule on the day of a contest and the next school day following the contest. Habitual absence before and after a contest may result in suspension from the team. To be eligible to participate in the contest of the day, the athlete must be present by 11:00 a.m. on the day of a contest, unless the student has been excused from school attendance for such reasons as a doctor appointment, field trip, college visitation, driver test, or such reasons other than illness. The purpose of this clause is to keep a student from participating when he or she is ill.

- 3. <u>Injuries and Illness</u> An athlete must report any injury immediately to the coach. If an athlete sustains a significant injury, he or she must have a written release from the attending physician. Should there be any question concerning the decision about an athlete's participation due to illness or injury, the final decision will be made by the school physician. Any student who has been absent from school for five or more consecutive days due to illness or injury must be released for participation by the athlete's attending physician and again qualified for participation by the school physician.
- 4. <u>Transportation To and From Athletic Contests</u> All team members will travel to and from "away" contests by means of school-provided transportation. After the conclusion of an away contest, athletes may be released to their parent or guardian only with full knowledge and approval of the coach. Any other exceptions to this must be made in writing to the building principal.
- 5. <u>Care of School Equipment</u> The athlete is responsible for all equipment issued to him or her. All lost, stolen or damaged equipment must be paid for by the athlete. All equipment issued to an athlete must be returned at the end of the sport season. Failure to return lost, stolen or damaged equipment may jeopardize further participation in the interscholastic athletic program.
 - a. This equipment is intended for use in practices and contests only! General use of school equipment outside of the normal practice and contest needs is not permitted.
- 6. Quitting a Team If an athlete quits or is suspended from a sport, he or she will not be eligible to participate in another sport during the same season. A student who is not successful in making a team after participating in a tryout program is eligible to try out for, and participate in, another sport during that season. Students will not be allowed to quit a sports team to avoid penalty for a violation of the Student Code of Conduct.

PENALTIES FOR VIOLATION OF THE EXTRACURRICULAR STUDENT CODE

It is the responsibility of coaches, club advisors, the student body, athletes, and parents to insure that these code rules are observed. Any violation of the district's drug and alcohol policy should be reported immediately to the principal. If a violation of the Extracurricular Student Code of Conduct occurs in relation to use, possession, consumption, distribution of alcohol, illegal drugs and prescription or nonprescription drugs, the following consequences will occur:

FIRST OFFENSE

Initial Consequence	Reduction Clause
PENALTY	PENALTY
The student will be immediately suspended for 60 calendar days from all school sponsored activities.	The student will be suspended for 30 calendar days from all school sponsored activities.

CONDITIONS

Students are prohibited from attending practice, games, meetings and events during the suspension period. Students will be allowed to participate in any tryouts if such occurs during the suspension period.

CONDITIONS

The student will complete a minimum of 5 hours substance abuse counseling/awareness. The cost of this program will be covered by the student's parents/guardians. Students are prohibited from attending practice, games, meetings, and events during the suspension period. Students will be allowed to participate in any tryouts if such occurs during the suspension period.

SECOND OFFENSE

<u>Initial Consequence</u>	
PENALTY The student will be suspended for 90 calendar days from all school-sponsored activities.	PENALTY The student will be suspended for 60 calendar days from all school-sponsored activities.
CONDITIONS Students are prohibited from attending practice, games, meetings and events during the suspension period. Students will be allowed to participate in any tryouts if such occurs during the suspension period.	CONDITIONS The student will complete a minimum of 10 hours substance abuse counseling/awareness. The cost of this program will be covered by the student's parents/guardians. Students are prohibited from attending practice, games, meetings, and events during the suspension period. Students will be allowed to participate in any tryouts if such occurs during the suspension period.

THIRD OFFENSE

PENALTY

The student will be suspended for one calendar year and must satisfy conditions stated.

CONDITIONS

The student will complete drug/alcohol counseling with a school-approved counselor until released from the program at the counselor's discretion. The cost of this program will be covered by the student's parents/guardians.

** It is to be noted that, should the infractions take place during school hours or at school activities or otherwise occur in a manner that provides a lawful basis for additional discipline, the penalties outlined above will be applied concurrently with and/or in addition to any school or district penalties. Thus, for example, high school graduation, which is not deemed to constitute an extracurricular activity for purposes of this Extracurricular Code of Conduct, would not be treated as an activity from which a student would automatically be suspended for a violation of this Code. However, depending on the misconduct committed by a particular student, the same misconduct that results in the student's suspension from attending or participating in extracurricular activities in accordance with this Code, may also provide grounds for additional discipline (in accordance with the student's due process rights), including, but not necessarily limited to, a student's suspension from attending or participating in the high school graduation ceremony.

Students who are suspended from extracurricular activities may not participate in any practices, games, rehearsals, performances, or meetings unless noted in the consequences above. These suspensions will begin on the date of notification from school administration.

Violations will be cumulative for a student high school career (Grades 9-12).

COURSE OF ACTION

Once a violation of the Student Code of Conduct has been found, the following course of action will take place:

Step 1: The principal will notify the student and their parents/guardians of the violation and penalty. Prior to suspending a student's privilege of participating in and attending school sponsored activities, the student and his or her parents will be given the opportunity to discuss the suspension with the principal or the person who is authorized to impose the suspension.

Step 2: If the student and their parents/guardians feel it appropriate to apply for the reduction in penalty they may do so by applying in writing to the building principal stating why they feel a reduction in suspension time is appropriate.

Step 3: If granted a reduction in penalty, the student must complete the conditions noted under the reduction clause and submit documentation of completion of the substance abuse counseling/awareness. If not granted a reduction in penalty, the student will serve the suspension noted under initial consequence.

Step 4: The principal will determine when all conditions have been met and will notify the student and their parents/guardians in writing with the date the student is allowed to return to participation.

APPEAL PROCESS

Students who are suspended from participation may appeal to the Superintendent of Schools within five days of notification of the suspension. Such an appeal must be in writing and must state the specific reasons for the appeal. Further appeals must be filed with the Board of Education before they are filed with the Commissioner of Education or the court system.

PENALTY FOR BEHAVIOR RELATED DISCIPLINARY REFERRAL

A behavior related incident is considered but not limited to the use of profanity, being disrespectful to any staff member and or game official, violating school rules, unlawful behavior, and flagrant conduct related to school sponsored activities as well as non-school based activity. Students who consistently violate the code of conduct and/or whose behavior causes disruption to the school day will forfeit their privilege to participate in extracurricular activities. School administration will be responsible for communicating with the student, parent, coach, or club advisor prior to limiting the student's ability to participate.

ROLE OF PARENTS IN EXTRACURRICULAR ACTIVITIES

In order to promote a positive extracurricular experience parents/guardians of Westhill students will:

- 1. Demonstrate knowledge of the Student Code of Conduct and the commitment your child has made to Westhill and as a member of the community.
- 2. Demonstrate understanding of the consequences of any Student Code of Conduct violation and to assist in the enforcement of the Code.
- 3. Be supportive/respectful of your child, the coach, the club advisor, the officials, and the administration.
- 4. Hold your child accountable for their actions and help them in proper decision making skills.
- 5. Know the team and club rules and expectations and address concerns regarding your child or your child's program to the coach or club advisor.
- 6. Exhibit sportsmanship at all contests or activities and encourage your child and their teammates.
- 7. Not consume alcohol or tobacco products on school grounds or at school events, to include chaperoning away contests/events.

Definitions of Terms:

<u>Illegal Drugs</u>: Controlled drugs (substances) not prescribed by a physician or substances whose use is against the law.

Offense Reduction Clause: If a student and their parents/guardians decide they would like to apply for a reduction in suspension time they may do so by participating in the offense reduction clause. The student will apply in writing to the building principal for the offense reduction. A student can receive an offense reduction after their first or second offense but cannot apply for one after their third offense. The offense reduction clause will reduce the amount of suspension time and will also involve the student completing drug/alcohol-counseling sessions.

<u>School Sponsored Activities</u>: Any school sponsored or authorized extracurricular event or activity, regardless of where such activity or event takes place.

WESTHILL HIGH SCHOOL CODE OF CONDUCT

In accordance with New York State Project SAVE legislation, the following is a summary of various behavioral offenses and the penalties, which may be imposed as a result of their commission by a student at Westhill High School.

A complete copy of the Westhill Central School District Code of Conduct is available in the high school main office and on the district website for all interested persons.

School and Class Attendance and Punctuality

Unexcused absence from school (truancy)

- first offense -late detention
- subsequent offenses multiple late detentions
- If no excuse is presented for a claimed legal absence, it will be processed as unexcused within a week of the student's return to school.

Unexcused tardiness to school

- first offense warning
- 2nd 4th offenses detention
- subsequent offenses: late detention

Unexcused absence from class (i.e. - class cut)

- first offense teacher assigns Instructional Assistance; parent is notified by letter from teacher
- second offense (same class) late detention; warned of consequence of third cut; parent is notified by phone and by follow-up letter from Assistant Principal
- subsequent offenses three late detentions

Unexcused tardiness to class

- first, second, third offense teacher assigns Instructional Assistance
- subsequent offenses teacher assigns IA at their option, or the student may instead be referred to the Assistant Principal to be assigned detention(s); parent should be notified by teacher

Unexcused absence from Study Hall

- first offense detention, letter to parent from Assistant Principal
- second offense two detentions, letter to parent from Assistant Principal
- subsequent offenses late detention

Failure to return pass to Study Hall teacher

- first offense warning, provided that student can verify whereabouts
- subsequent offenses penalties for study hall cuts will be in effect

Leaving school without permission

- first offense late detention, class cuts if appropriate; student loses free time, if he/she has any, for a minimum of twenty weeks
- subsequent offenses two late detentions, class cuts if appropriate, loss of free time if appropriate

Forgery of parent note or teacher pass

- first offense two detentions, class cut if appropriate, loss of free time for a minimum of twenty weeks
- subsequent offenses late detention, class cut if appropriate; if a student leaves school as a result of the forgery, penalties for truancy will be in effect

Insubordination and/or Disruptive Behavior

Insubordination (refusal to follow the requests of staff members) - not repeatedly and substantially disruptive, not violent.

- first offense depending on the nature of the insubordination teacher-assigned Instructional Assistance to suspension
- subsequent offenses late detention to suspension

Insubordination or Disorderly Conduct (classroom) - not repeatedly and substantially disruptive, not violent

- first three offenses teacher assigns Instructional Assistance; offenses may be recorded in main office via referral; teacher should contact parent
- subsequent offenses multiple detentions or late detention

Repeatedly and substantially disruptive/violent behavior in classroom

• Students may be removed immediately from class by a teacher according to the Project SAVE legislation and the District Code of Conduct. Pending proper notification of a parent, this removal may be for five days or more.

Disruptive behavior in Study Hall, hallway or during IA

- first offense one or two detentions, depending on offense
- second offense two detentions or late detention
- subsequent offenses late detention to suspension and parent notified

Fighting

- first offense (after determination of blame and extent of each student's involvement) penalty may range from exoneration and warning to suspension, parent notified; legal authorities may be contacted as appropriate
- second offense suspension up to five days, parent notified, legal authorities may be contacted; more serious situation may be referred to Superintendent for further action

Using rude/disrespectful/profane language/body language (when speaking to staff member or other adult visitor)

- lesser offenses may minimally require an apology, assignment to detention(s), late detention.
- first offense (if profanity directed at staff member) suspension not less than one day
- subsequent offenses suspension of five days, conference with Principal and/or Superintendent

Using rude/disrespectful/profane language (directed to, or in reference to another student)

- first offense depending on severity, penalty may range from warning to late detention to suspension
- subsequent offenses penalty may range from detention(s) to late detention(s) to suspension from school

Using rude/disrespectful/profane language (casually - in halls, classrooms, in conversation with other students)

- first offense depending on severity, penalty may range from warning to detention(s) to suspension
- subsequent offenses penalty may range from detentions to late detention to suspension

Physical harassment of another student, staff members or adult visitors

- first offense depending on severity, penalty may range from a warning to late detention to suspension
- subsequent offenses late detention or suspension

Harassment: Bullying, Peer Abuse/Cyberbullying/Hazing

- first offense depending on severity, penalty may range from a warning to late detention to suspension
- subsequent offenses late detention or suspension

- The District's full and complete policy pertaining to Dignity for All Students: Prohibiting Harassment and Discrimination of Students (Policy #7552) is set forth as Appendix "A" to this Code of Conduct, and is hereby expressly incorporated into this Code.
- The District's full and complete policy pertaining to Hazing (Policy #7553) is set forth as Appendix "B" to this Code of Conduct, and is hereby expressly incorporated into this Code.

Classroom disruption with cell phone, beeper, use of CD player or electronic device

- first offense item will be confiscated by the teacher and sent to Assistant Principal. Student may pick up device at end of day.
- subsequent offenses The device will be confiscated and parents will pick it up from the main office. If students continually violate this policy it will be considered insubordination and appropriate consequences will be administered, which could include late detention or suspension.

Cafeteria - unruly/disrespectful behavior, to include but not limited to: leaving a mess behind, cutting in line, and eating in hall

- first offense (depending on seriousness) detention(s) or late detention
- second offense detention(s) or late detention; student may be assigned to spend lunch period in the main office

Cafeteria - instigation of, or participation in a food fight

- first offense late detention, required to clean up mess, assigned to eat lunch in main office, and depending on severity, suspension from school
- second offense suspension from school, parent notified, assigned to eat lunch in main office

Disruptive and/or uncooperative behavior on school bus

- first offense warning or detention(s), depending on nature of offense; parent may be contacted; more serious offenses may require penalty as described below
- second offense late detention or suspension; student may be removed from all Westhill transportation for 30 days

Disruptive and/or uncooperative behavior at school functions

• all offenses - penalty may be applied similarly to offenses listed above; student may be removed from the event, with no refund of any admission charge

Failure to attend assigned Instructional Assistance period

- first three offenses student is reassigned to IA and also assigned to one detention. If either is missed, late detention is assigned.
- second three offenses student is reassigned to IA and also assigned to two detentions. If any is missed, late detention is assigned.
- subsequent offenses student is assigned to late detention

Academic Dishonesty - includes copying from other sources (including Internet sites) or allowing someone else to copy one's own work

- first and subsequent offenses penalty may range from a warning to a late detention; student should receive a zero for assignment; teacher should notify parent
- suspension from school may also occur as a penalty for "cheating"

Drugs and Alcohol (also, see Code of Conduct)

Violation of the Drug and Alcohol Policy - use and/or possession of drugs, drug paraphernalia and/or alcohol at school, on school grounds, or at any school activity:

- first offense five-day suspension from school, parents notified, authorities notified if appropriate, parent/student
 conference with Superintendent of Schools and depending on the nature and severity of the drug or alcohol offense,
 long term suspension from school
- second offense (same school year) parents notified, authorities notified if appropriate, parent/student conference with Superintendent of Schools
 - a. the suspension will be for a minimum of twenty (20) school days
 - b. other conditions for reinstatement may be established by the Building Principal or Superintendent if deemed necessary to secure the health, safety or welfare of the student or others

- The District's full and complete policy pertaining to the Student Extracurricular Code of Conduct set forth in the Student/Parent Handbook is hereby expressly incorporated into this Code of violations of the district's drug and alcohol policy.
- If the infractions occur over a period of more than one school year, the student will be suspended for a minimum of five (5) days and a Superintendent's hearing will be held, at which time a determination of any further consequence will be made.
- Penalties also imposed for participation in extracurricular activities, refer to Pg. 14.

Theft

• first offense – judgment of administrator – penalty may range from detention to suspension; authorities notified as appropriate; student may be required to pay restitution

Smoking/Use of Electronic Cigarettes

Smoking in school, on school property, and/or at off-campus school activity

- first offense two late detentions
- second offense two-day suspension from school
- third offense three-day suspension, parent conference with administrator
- fourth offense five-day suspension and conference with Superintendent

Enabling another student to smoke (including but not limited to providing cigarettes or other tobacco products to another student)

- first offense late detention
- subsequent offenses two late detentions, notification of parent

Smoking on school bus

- penalties as assigned above
- in addition, student is removed from transportation for 30 days

Detention/Late Detention

Failure to attend Detention (no legal excuse)

- first offense two detentions; if either of these is missed, a late detention is assigned
- second, third offense judgment of administrator two detentions as above, or immediate assignment to late detention
- subsequent offenses student is assigned to late detention

Failure to attend Late Detention (no legal excuse)

- first offense student is suspended from school for one day
- subsequent offenses student is suspended for two days or more

Tardiness to Detention or Late Detention

- first offense warning; 1st five minutes, time to be made up by extending detention. Beyond 5 minutes late, students will be assigned another detention.
- subsequent offenses additional late detentions will be assigned

Disruptive behavior in Detention or Late Detention - includes eating, sleeping, talking, making noises

- first offense detention
- subsequent offenses in detention late detention
- subsequent offenses in late detention one-day suspension from school

Parking Lot/Unauthorized Areas

Parking on Campus without permission (not obtaining a parking pass)

- first offense- warning
- second offense- Late Detention, parents notified
- subsequent offenses- Insubordination- student subject to suspension from school.

Loitering in parking lot or other unauthorized area without permission during school hours

- first offense student is assigned to two detentions, loss of free time if appropriate (whether or not the offense took place during the free time); if it can be determined that student was returning from having left school without permission, penalties for truancy will be in effect (see above). Similarly, if it is determined that the student was smoking (to include smoking in a car), the appropriate penalty for smoking shall be imposed.
- subsequent offenses student is assigned to late detention. Student loses free time if appropriate.

Reckless/Dangerous Driving on School Property

- first offense warning or detention(s), depending on nature of offense
- second offense detentions, authorities notified if appropriate, parents notified, driving privilege revoked

Student Use of Computerized Information Resources (Violation of the Internet Use Policy)

- first offense two detentions
- second offense two detentions, removal of school internet use privileges
- depending on the nature and severity of the violation of District policy, suspension from school

Inappropriate Dress

Criteria (any or all of the following) - too revealing; promoting drug/alcohol use or sexual activity; profane; generally distracting and/or disruptive to educational process

- first offense warning, request to remove or cover the offending article; detention(s) if no compliance
- second offense detention(s), parent notified
- subsequent offenses late detention, parent notified, possible suspension from school.
- Suspension from school may also occur for a first, second or subsequent offense, under circumstances where a student's dress is exceptionally profane, vulgar or indecent or where the student persists in dressing inappropriately.

Vandalism/Defacing School Property

- penalty depends upon intent as well as seriousness of offense, from a warning to a suspension; authorities may be contacted
- student is responsible for financial restitution to the limit set by Education Law

Possession or Use of a Weapon

- first offense Parents notified; authorities contacted in accordance with Article IX, Subsection "D." of the Code of Conduct; five-day suspension from school, and depending on the severity of the offense, referral to the Superintendent for hearing and possible long-term suspension from school
- second offense suspension from school pending further action by Superintendent of Schools, authorities contacted

Activation of School Fire Alarm System (without due cause)

- Minimum five (5) day suspension; authorities will be contacted, and Superintendent will be notified for consideration of Superintendent's hearing and possible long-term suspension from school
- second offense suspension from school pending further action by Superintendent of Schools; authorities contacted

Any Offenses Not Listed Above

• penalty will be imposed appropriate to the offense, with notification of parents and/or authorities by an administrator if it is judged to be necessary.

Addendum

The following offenses (i.e. - crimes) are itemized on the annual New York State BEDS Report, but are not included above. It is likely that, in the event of such incidents, a lengthy suspension would be imposed, along with criminal penalties. As listed, they include: homicide, rape, arson, kidnapping, assault and battery, bomb threat, threat of bio-terrorism, and threat of harm to an individual.

Reporting Illegal Activities

Any student observing a student possessing a weapon, alcohol or illegal substance on Westhill Central School property or at a Westhill Central School function has the responsibility to report this information immediately to a teacher, a Westhill Central School administrator, or the Superintendent. Any weapons, alcohol or illegal substances found shall be confiscated immediately, followed by notification of the parent of the student involved and the appropriate disciplinary action taken, up to and including permanent suspension and referral for prosecution.

A building administrator must notify the appropriate local law enforcement agency of those code violations that constitute a crime and substantially affect the order or security of a school as soon as practical, but in no event later than the close of business the day the Principal learns of the violation. The notification may be made by telephone, followed by a letter mailed on the same day as the telephone call is made. The notification must identify the student(s) and explain the conduct that constituted a crime.

APPENDIX II Westhill Central School District Board of Education Policies

Students 7552 Adopted 06.18.12 Amended 07.09.12 Amended 08.08.12 Amended 11.13.18

Dignity for All Students: Prohibiting Harassment, Bullying and Discrimination

The Board of Education ("Board") is committed to providing a safe and productive learning environment within its schools. In accordance with New York State's "Dignity for All Students Act" (the "Dignity Act"), the Board is committed to creating a school environment that is free of harassment, bullying and discrimination.

Policy Definitions:

- "School property" means in or within any building, structure, athletic playing field, playground, parking lot, or land contained within the real property boundary line of a public elementary or secondary school, or in or on a school bus.
- "School bus" means every motor vehicle owned by a public or governmental agency or private school and operated for the transportation of pupils, children of pupils, teachers and other persons acting in a supervisory capacity, to or from school or school activities, or privately owned and operated for compensation for the transportation of pupils, children of pupils, teachers and other persons acting in a supervisory capacity to or from school or school activities.
- "School function" means a school-sponsored or school-authorized extra-curricular event or activity regardless of where such event or activity takes place, including any event or activity that takes place in another state.
- "Discrimination" means discrimination against any student by a student or students and/or an employee or employees on school property or at a school function including, but not limited to, discrimination based on a person's actual or perceived race, color, weight, national origin, ethnic group, religious practice, disability, sexual orientation, gender or sex.
- "Harassment" and "bullying" mean the creation of a hostile environment by conduct or by threats, intimidation or abuse, including cyberbullying, that: (a) has or would have the effect of unreasonably and substantially interfering with a student's educational performance, opportunities or benefits, or mental, emotional or physical well-being; or (b) reasonably causes or would reasonably be expected to cause a student to fear for his or her physical safety; or (c) reasonably causes or would reasonably be expected to cause physical injury or emotional harm to a student; or (d) occurs off school property and creates or would foreseeably create a risk of substantial disruption within the school environment, where it is foreseeable that the conduct, threats, intimidation or abuse might reach school property. Acts of harassment and bullying include, but are not limited to, acts based on a person's actual or perceived race, color, weight, national origin, ethnic group, religion, religious practice, disability, sexual orientation, gender or sex. For the purposes of this definition the term "threats, intimidation or abuse" shall include verbal

and non-verbal actions.

- "Cyberbullying" means harassment or bullying as defined immediately above, including paragraphs (a), (b), (c) and (d) of the above definition, where such harassment or bullying occurs through any form of electronic communication.
- "Material Incident of Discrimination and/or Harassment" means a single incident or a series of related incidents where a student is subjected to discrimination and/or harassment by a student and/or employee on school property or at a school function that creates a hostile environment by conduct, with or without physical contact and/or by verbal threats, intimidation or abuse, of such severe or pervasive nature that:
 - (a) has or would have the effect of unreasonably and substantially interfering with a student's educational performance, opportunities or benefits, or mental, emotional and/or physical wellbeing; or
 - (b) reasonably causes or would reasonably be expected to cause a student to fear for his or her physical safety.

Such conduct shall include, but is not limited to, threats, intimidation or abuse based on a person's actual or perceived race, color, weight, national origin, ethnic group, religious practice, disability, sexual orientation, gender or sex; provided that nothing in the Dignity Act shall be construed to prohibit a denial of admission into, or exclusion from, a course of instruction based on a person's gender that would be permissible under Education Law sections 3201-a or 2854(2)(a) and Title IX of the Education Amendments of 1972 (20 U.S.C. section 1681, et seq.), or to prohibit, as discrimination based on disability, actions that would be permissible under section 504 of the Rehabilitation Act of 1973.

- "Disability" means a disability as defined in New York Executive Law Section 292(21).
- "Sexual Orientation" means actual or perceived heterosexuality, homosexuality, or bisexuality.
- "Gender" means actual or perceived sex and includes a person's gender identity or expression.
- "Employee" means any person receiving compensation from a school district or employee of a contracted service provider or worker placed within the school under a public assistance employment program, pursuant to title nine-B of article five of the Social Services Law, and consistent with the provisions of such title for the provision of services to such district, its students or employees, directly or through contract, whereby such services performed by such person involve direct student contact.

Harassment, Bullying and Discrimination of Students Prohibited

No student shall be subjected to harassment or bullying by employees or students on school property or at a school function (or off school property, as set forth in this Policy); nor shall any student be subjected to discrimination based on a person's actual or perceived race, color, weight, national origin, ethnic group, religious practice, disability, sexual orientation, gender, or sex by school employees or students on school property or at a school function. However, this shall not be construed to prohibit a denial of admission into, or exclusion from, a course of instruction based on a person's gender that would be permissible under Section 3201-a or Section 2854(2)(a) of the New York Education Law and Title IX of the Education Amendments of 1972 (20 U.S.C. section 1681, et. seq.); nor shall this be construed to prohibit, as discrimination based on disability, actions that would be permissible under section 504 of the Rehabilitation Act of 1973.

Remedial Disciplinary Consequences

In addition to any other disciplinary consequences set forth in the District's Code(s) of Conduct, the Board and District are committed to implementing remedial responses to harassment, bullying and discrimination that are aimed at addressing the root causes of harassment, bullying and/or discrimination and correcting and preventing the recurrence of the problem behavior. Appropriate remedial consequences may include, but are not limited to:

- peer support groups;
- corrective instruction or other relevant learning or service experience;
- supportive intervention;
- behavioral assessment/evaluation;
- behavioral management plans, with goals for improvement that are closely monitored;
- student counseling and parent conferences.

Environmental Remediation

In addition to imposing appropriate disciplinary consequences and remedial efforts aimed at addressing harassment, bullying or discrimination by particular students, building-wide and/or school-wide environmental remediation can be an important tool to prevent harassment, bullying and discrimination. Environmental remediation strategies may include, but are not limited to the following:

- supervisory systems which empower school staff with prevention and intervention tools to address incidents of harassment, bullying and discrimination:
- school and community surveys or other strategies for determining the conditions contributing to the relevant behavior;
- adoption of research based systemic harassment, bullying and discrimination prevention programs;
- modification of schedules;
- adjustment in hallway traffic and other student routes of travel;
- targeted use of monitors;
- staff professional development;
- parent conferences;
- involvement of parent-teacher organizations; and
- · peer support groups.

Designation and Training of Dignity Act Coordinators/Dissemination of Names & Contact Information

The Board of Education shall appoint one or more staff members in each school building to be thoroughly trained to handle human relations in the areas of race, color, weight, national origin, ethnic group, religion, religious practice, disability, sexual orientation, gender and sex. The designated individual(s) in each building shall be referred to as the Dignity Act Coordinator(s).

The name(s) and contact information for the Dignity Act Coordinator(s) shall be shared with all school personnel, students, and persons in parental relation, which shall include, but is not limited to, providing the name, designated school and contact information of each Dignity Act Coordinator by:

- listing such information in the Code of Conduct and updates posted on the District's Internet web site:
- including such information in the plain language summary of the Code of Conduct provided to all persons in parental relation to students before the beginning of each school year;
- including such information in at least one District or school mailing per school year to parents and persons of parental relation and, if such information changes, in at least one subsequent District or school mailing as soon as practicable thereafter;
- posting such information in highly-visible areas of school buildings; and
- making such information available at the district and school-level administrative offices.

In the event a Dignity Act Coordinator vacates his or her position, another school employee shall be immediately designated for an interim appointment as Coordinator, pending approval of a successor Coordinator by the Board of Education within 30 days of the date the position was vacated. In the event a Coordinator is unable to perform the duties of his or her position for an extended period of time, another school

employee shall be immediately designated for an interim appointment as Coordinator, pending return of the previous Coordinator to his or her duties as Coordinator.

Shared Responsibility for Reporting Known and/or Suspected Harassment, Bullying and Discrimination

Any student who believes that they is being subjected to harassment, bullying or discrimination or who witnesses harassment, bullying or discrimination, as well as any other person who has knowledge of or witnesses any possible occurrence of harassment, bullying or discrimination, shall report the harassment, bullying or discrimination orally or in writing to any staff member or to the designated Dignity Act Coordinator for the student's school building. School staff at all levels is responsible for reporting harassment, bullying and discrimination of which they are aware. Any staff member who is assigned to and regularly works within a particular school building who witnesses harassment, bullying or discrimination or who receives an oral or written report of harassment, bullying or discrimination shall orally notify the designated Dignity Act Coordinator for his or her school building

and thereafter shall file a written report with the designated Dignity Act Coordinator. All other school staff who witness harassment, bullying or discrimination or receive an oral or written report of harassment, bullying or discrimination shall orally notify either their immediate supervisor, who in turn shall notify the designated Dignity Act Coordinator for the supervisor's school building (if applicable), or the Superintendent of Schools, and thereafter shall file a written report with the same person to whom the oral report was made.

In addition, every teacher and every other professional educator (i.e., all certified personnel), whether employed by the District, or working under contract with the District, is required to:

- 1. At all times maintain a climate of mutual respect and dignity for all students, regardless of actual or perceived race, color, weight, national origin, ethnic group, religion, religious practice, disability, sexual orientation, gender or sex, so as to strengthen students' confidence and promote learning; and
- 2. Address personal biases that may prevent equal treatment of all students in the school or classroom setting.

Parents and other members of the school community are likewise encouraged to address their own personal biases and to behave as role models for their own children and other District students by maintaining and promoting a climate of mutual respect for others without regard to actual or perceived race, color, weight, national origin, ethnic group, religious practice, disability, sexual orientation, gender or sex.

Parents, community members and other persons are encouraged to promptly report (either orally or in writing) to school staff, any incident(s) of harassment, bullying or discrimination that they observe while they are on school premises or at a school function. Parents, community members or other persons who engage in such misconduct on school premises or at a school function shall be admonished by school staff in charge of the event or activity and may be directed to leave the District's premises and limited or prohibited from attending future school events and activities for a period of time and/or in a manner that is commensurate with their misconduct.

Investigating and Responding to Complaints of Harassment, Bullying and Discrimination

The Dignity Act Coordinator to whom a report is made or the Superintendent (if the report is made directly to the Superintendent by school staff who are not assigned to a particular school building) shall promptly investigate or cause an investigation to be made into the complaint, regardless of whether the complaint is made orally or in writing.

The parents of the student who is alleged to be the target of the alleged harassment, bullying, or discrimination shall be notified immediately of the fact that a complaint has been made and that an investigation is being conducted. If the complaint alleges that other students engaged in acts of harassment, bullying, or discrimination, the parents of those students shall also be notified.

All complaints will be handled confidentially, except for disclosure necessary to thoroughly investigate and resolve the complaint.

The parents of the student who is alleged to be the target of the alleged harassment, bullying or discrimination, and the parents of any accused students, will be informed of the outcome of the investigation. The Superintendent of Schools will also be informed of the outcome of the investigation. If any students or parents are not satisfied with any procedural aspect of the District's investigation of a complaint, they may appeal such procedural issues to the Board of Education. The appeal must identify the specific action being appealed, explain the basis of the appeal, and must be delivered to the Superintendent of Schools within ten (10) days of the date the student or parent is informed of the outcome of the investigation.

When an investigation verifies that the alleged harassment, bullying or discrimination occurred, the Dignity Act Coordinator or Superintendent (as applicable) shall take prompt action, or cause prompt action to be taken, that is reasonably calculated to end the harassment, bullying or discrimination, eliminate any hostile environment, create a more positive school culture and climate, prevent recurrence of the behavior, and ensure the safety of the student or students against whom such harassment, bullying or discrimination was directed. Such actions shall be consistent with District guidelines developed in accordance with this Policy.

In addition, whenever a Dignity Act Coordinator or the Superintendent (as applicable) believes that any harassment, bullying or discrimination constitutes criminal conduct, he or she shall promptly notify the appropriate local law enforcement agency.

Maintaining a Record of Allegations of Harassment, Bullying and Discrimination and Reporting "Materials Incidents" of Harassment, Bullying and Discrimination to the Commissioner

A record shall be made by the District's Dignity Act Coordinators of each allegation of harassment, bullying or discrimination (regardless of whether the allegation is made orally or in writing), together with a summary of the finding(s) of the investigation into each such allegation, and the disposition of the matter. If an allegation of harassment, bullying or discrimination is substantiated, at a minimum, the record shall include information about:

- the nature of bias or biases involved (e.g., whether the harassment, bullying or discrimination was based on actual or perceived race, color, weight, national origin, ethnic group, religion, disability, gender, sexual orientation);
- whether the incident resulted from student and/or employee conduct;
- whether the incident involved physical contact and/or verbal threats, intimidation or abuse;
- the location(s) where the harassment, bullying or discrimination occurred.

The District will annually report "material incidents" of discrimination and harassment to the State Education Department in the manner prescribed by the Commissioner, on or before the basic educational data system (BEDS) reporting deadline or such other date as determined by the Commissioner.

In addition, the District's Dignity Act Coordinators shall regularly report on data and trends related to harassment, bullying and discrimination to the Superintendent.

Retaliation Strictly Prohibited

The Board prohibits retaliatory behavior directed at any such person having reasonable cause to suspect that a student has been subjected to harassment, bullying, or discrimination by an employee or student on school property or at a school function (or off school property, as set forth in this Policy), who acting reasonably and in good faith, either: 1) reports such harassment, bullying or discrimination to: a) school officials, b) the Commissioner of Education, or c) law enforcement authorities; or 2) initiates, testifies, participates or assists in any formal or informal proceedings with respect to such harassment, bullying or discrimination. In addition, all such persons shall have immunity from any civil liability that may arise from the making of such a report or from initiating, testifying, participating or assisting in such formal or informal proceedings.

Follow-up inquiries and/or appropriate monitoring of the alleged wrongdoer and victim shall be made to ensure that the harassment, bullying or discrimination has not continued or resumed and that those involved in the investigation of allegations of harassment, bullying or discrimination have not suffered retaliation.

Development of Administrative Guidelines with Respect to Training Programs for School Employees

The Superintendent is authorized and directed to cause administrative guidelines to be prepared for approval by the Board of Education for school employee training programs to promote a positive school environment that is free from discrimination and harassment and to discourage and respond to incidents of discrimination and/or harassment on school property or at a school function. These guidelines shall include, but are not be limited to, providing employees, including school and district administrators and instructional and non-instructional staff, with training:

- Relating to the development of nondiscriminatory instructional and counseling methods for use by District faculty and counseling staff;
- Relating to the development of measured, balanced and age-appropriate
 responses to instances of harassment, bullying or discrimination by students,
 with remedies and procedures following a progressive model that make
 appropriate use of intervention, discipline and education, vary in method
 according to the nature of the behavior, the developmental age of the student
 and the student's history of problem behaviors, and are consistent with the
 District's Code of Conduct: and
- To be used in school training programs to discourage the development of harassment, bullying and discrimination, and to make school employees aware of the effects of harassment, bullying, cyberbullying and discrimination on students and that are designed:
 - a. to raise the awareness and sensitivity of school employees to potential harassment, bullying and discrimination, and
 - b. to enable employees to prevent and respond to harassment, bullying and discrimination.

Training may also address:

- 1) social patterns of harassment, bullying and discrimination, including but not limited to acts based on a person's actual or perceived race, color, weight, national origin, ethnic group, religious, religious practice, disability, sexual orientation, gender or sex;
- 2) the identification and mitigation of harassment, bullying and discrimination; and
- 3) strategies for effectively addressing problems of exclusion, bias and aggression in educational settings.

Training may be implemented and conducted in conjunction with existing professional development training.

In addition, the Superintendent or Superintendent's designee(s) shall assure that the District's curriculum in grades kindergarten through twelve (k-12) provides for instruction in civility, citizenship and character education in accordance with Section 801-a of the Education Law, including an instructional component for all students that supports development of a school environment free of discrimination and harassment, as required by the Dignity For All Students Act, including but not limited to instruction that raises awareness and sensitivity to discrimination or harassment based on a person's actual or perceived race, color, weight, national origin, ethnic group, religious practice, disability, sexual orientation, gender or sex

NOTE: Refer also to Policies #1330 -- Appointments and Designations by the Board of Education

#7310 -- District Code of Conduct

#7553 -- Hazing of Students

#8242 -- Civility, Citizenship and Character Education/Interpersonal

Violence Prevention Education

Policy 7553 Adopted 7/11/11

Hazing of Students

The Board of Education is committed to providing a safe, productive and positive learning environment within its schools. Hazing activities are demeaning, abusive and/or illegal behaviors that harm victims, and interfere are inconsistent with the educational goals of the District by negatively impacting the school environment. Hazing of a student by another student or group of students is strictly prohibited on school property; in school buildings; on school buses; by school sponsored groups, clubs or teams; and at school sponsored events and/or activities whether occurring on or off-campus. Hazing of a student refers to soliciting, encouraging, aiding, or engaging in "hazing" behavior as defined pursuant to District policy, regulation and/or law.

For purposes of this policy, the term "hazing" among students is defined as any humiliating or dangerous activity expected of a student to join a group and/or participate in a group activity regardless of their willingness to participate. Hazing behaviors include, but are not limited to, the following general categories:

- a) Humiliation: socially offensive, isolating or uncooperative behaviors.
- b) Substance abuse: abuse of tobacco, alcohol or illegal drugs.
- c) Dangerous hazing: hurtful, aggressive, destructive, and disruptive behaviors.

Incorporated within this definition are various forms of physical, emotional and/or sexual abuse, which may range in severity from teasing/embarrassing activities to life threatening actions.

Even if the hazing victim participated "willingly" in the activity, or there was no "intent" by the hazer(s) to harm or injure another individual, hazing is still hazing and against District policy, the District Code of Conduct, and also may be in constitute criminal misconduct violation of New York State Law. However, hazing of students does not need to rise to the level of criminal activity for such conduct to be in violation of District rules and subject to appropriate disciplinary sanctions. Any hazing activity, whether by an individual or a group, shall be presumed a forced activity and in violation of Board policy, regardless of the real or purported "willingness" of the student to participate.

Any student who believes that he/she is being subjected to hazing behavior, as well as students, school employees or third parties who have knowledge of or witness any possible occurrence of hazing, shall report the incident to any staff member or the building principal. Anonymous student complaints of hazing behavior will also be investigated by the District. The staff member/building principal to whom the report is made (or the staff member/building principal who witnesses hazing behavior) shall investigate the complaint/incident and take appropriate action to include, as necessary, referral to the next level of supervisory authority and/or other official designated by the District to promptly investigate allegations of hazing. Investigations of allegations of hazing shall follow the procedures utilized for complaints of harassment within the School District.

Prohibition of Retaliation

The Board of Education prohibits any retaliatory behavior directed against complainants, victims, witnesses, and/or any other individuals who participate in the investigation of allegations of hazing. Follow-up inquiries and/or appropriate monitoring of the alleged hazer(s) and victim(s) shall be made to ensure that hazing behavior has not resumed and that all those involved in the investigation of allegations of hazing have not suffered retaliation. Any act of retaliation is subject to appropriate disciplinary action by the District.

Knowingly Makes False Accusations

Students who knowingly make false accusations against another individual as to allegations of hazing may also face appropriate disciplinary action.

District Responsibility/Training

Personnel at all levels are responsible for taking corrective action to prevent hazing behavior of which they have been made aware at School District sites; by school sponsored groups, clubs or teams; and at school sponsored events and/or activities whether occurring on or off-campus. Further, as may be applicable, personnel are to report such hazing behavior to their immediate supervisor. Staff training shall be provided to raise awareness of the problem of hazing within the schools and to facilitate staff identification of, and response to, such hazing behavior among students.

Prevention and intervention techniques within the District to help prevent hazing behavior and to support and protect victims shall include building-level and classroom-level strategies and activities as determined by administration. Individual intervention will be provided by appropriate staff members to hazers, victims and their parents to help ensure that the hazing stops.

This policy shall be publicized District-wide and shall be disseminated as appropriate to staff, students and parents. Disciplinary sanctions for violation of this policy shall be outlined in the District Code of Conduct and may also be incorporated in staff and student handbooks. In addition, allegations of hazing behavior may result in referral to law enforcement officials as necessary.

New York State Penal Law Sections 120.16 and 120.17 Education Law Sections 1709-a, 2503-a, 2554-a and 2801 New York Code of Rules and Regulations (NYCRR) Section 100.2(I)(2)



The Girls' Varsity Soccer Team won the League Championship!